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Innovating and Strengthening for Sustainable Growth

As the island’s only bank, we embrace our vital role

in shaping Montserrat’s financial future through

innovation, resilience, and strategic growth. This

theme reflects our ongoing efforts to modernize

banking services, enhance financial security,

and foster sustainable development that benefits

individuals, businesses, and the wider community.

Despite the challenges of a small economy, we

continue to strengthen our foundation, invest in

digital transformation, and support economic

resilience, ensuring that Montserrat’s financial

landscape remains secure, progressive, and future 

ready.
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Tel: 1 (664) 491-3843
SWIFT Details: BKMOMSMS		  	
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Montserrat, West Indies
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Notice of 31st Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders

Notice is hereby given that the 31st Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders of the Bank of Montserrat 
Limited will be held on Thursday 10th July 2025 commencing at 5:00 p.m. at the Montserrat Cultural Centre, 
Little Bay, Montserrat, with shareholders attending in person and or virtually for the following purposes:    

AGENDA

1)	 To confirm the Minutes of the 30th Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders held on 14th 		
	 August 2024.

2)	 Matters arising out of the Minutes.

3)	 To receive the Chairman’s Report.

4)	 To appoint Auditors and authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration. 

5)	 To elect two (2) Directors in accordance with Article 62 
	 The Directors retiring by rotation and who are eligible for re-election are:   
	 (i)	 Duleep Cheddie; and 
	 (ii)	 Joseph L. Irish.

6)	 To elect two (2) Directors in accordance with Article 65 
	 The Directors appointed by the Board who are eligible for re-election are: 
	 (i)	 Chivone Gerald; and 
	 (ii)	 Phylistine Weekes.

	 NOTE

Nominations may be made in writing or on the prescribed form and must reach the Bank’s 
registered office at least three (3) working days before the date of the meeting (Viz by close of 
business on Friday 4th July 2025.)

7)	 To receive the Auditor’s Report and Annual Accounts for the year ended 30th September 2024.

8)	 To sanction a dividend of 0.37 cents per share to all shareholders on record as at 30th 			 
	 September 2024 as recommended by the Board of Directors.

9)	 Any other business. 

By Order of the Board

____________________
Korah Galloway (Ms.)
Corporate Secretary
Date: 18th June 2025                           

Proxy

A shareholder of the company who is entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a proxy 
to vote in his/her place.  A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company. The instrument appointing 
a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer, or if such appointer is a corporation, either 
under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or authority so authorized. The proxy form however 
must be delivered to the bank not less than 48 hours before the meeting (Viz by 5 p.m. on Tuesday 8th 
July 2025).  
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Articles & Guidelines

Articles Governing Annual General Meetings

39. 	 At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on by a show 
of hands unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of the result of a show of hands) demanded 
by;
(a) 	 the chairman or, 
(b) 	 at least ten members present in person or by proxy unless a poll so demanded a declaration 

by the chairman that a resolution has a show of hands been carried or carried unanimously of 
by a particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in the book containing the minutes 
of the proceedings of the Company, shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof 
of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against such resolution. A 
demand for a poll may be withdrawn.  

43. 	 Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares, on 
a show of hands every member present in person shall have one vote, and on a poll every member 
shall have one vote for each share or which he is the holder.

62. 	 At every general meeting of the Company one-third of all the directors shall retire from office, with 
the decisions for those retiring to be decided amongst the directors. On the fourth general meeting 
and thereafter those directors retiring shall be those who have been longest in the office since the 
last election. 

	 Each director shall be the holder in his own right of at least 200 shares in the capital of the Company, 
with the exception of those directors who are appointed by the Board on the basis of certain expertise 
they possess, which expertise could contribute to a better managing of the company. The number 
of directors so appointed shall not exceed three. 

	 Any retiring director shall be eligible for re-election. The vacant offices shall be filled by the Company 
in general meeting, and if at such meeting the places of the retiring directors are not filled up the 
vacating directors or such of them as have not had their places filled up, shall be deemed to have 
been re-elected unless such meeting or adjourned meeting it is expressly resolved not to fill such 
vacated office or unless a resolution for re-election of such director shall have been put to the 
meeting and lost.

 

63. 	 No person other than a director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Board, 
be eligible for election to the office of director at any general meeting unless not less than three nor 
more than twenty-one days before the date appointed for the meeting there shall have been left 
at the office notice in writing signed by a member duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting 
for which such notice is given of his intention, to propose such person for election, and also notice 
in writing signed by that person of his willingness to be elected.  

Guideline Governing the Election of Directors 

Section 97 of the Montserrat Banking Act, 2015 No. 15 of 2015 (as amended) states:
Minimum criteria for determining whether a person is fit and proper. 
 
(1)	 Every person who is, or is likely to be a director, significant shareholder or officer of a licensed financial 

institution or licensed financial holding company must be a fit and proper person to hold the particular 
position which he holds or is likely to hold. 
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Guideline Governing the Election of Directors (continued)

(2) 	 In determining whether a person is fit and proper person to hold any particular position, regard shall be 
had to:
(a)	 the person’s probity, competence and soundness of judgement for fulfilling the responsibilities of 

that position;
(b)	 the academic or professional qualifications or effective experience in banking, finance, business or 

administration or any other relevant discipline of the person concerned;
(c)	 the diligence with which the person is fulfilling or likely to fulfill the responsibilities of the position;
(d)	 whether the interest of depositors or potential depositors of the licensed financial institution are, or 

are likely to be, in any way threatened by the person holding the position;
(e)	  whether the person is a significant shareholder, director or officer or holds any position of authority in 

any licensed financial institution locally or elsewhere whose licence has been suspended, or revoked 
otherwise than as a result of an amalgamation or voluntary liquidation or which has been or is being 
wound up or compulsorily liquidated.;

(f)	 whether the person has failed to satisfy any judgement or order of a court locally or abroad including 
the repayment of a debt;

(g)	 whether the person is an un-discharged bankrupt or has been declared a bankrupt locally or abroad; 
and

(h)	 whether the person has been removed or suspended by a regulatory authority from serving as a 
director or officer in a licensed financial institution or anybody corporate locally or abroad.

(i) 	 whether the person is a director or officer of, or directly or indirectly concerned in the management 
of a corporation locally or abroad, that is compounding with or suspending payments to its 
creditors. 

(3) 	 Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing provisions, regard may be had to the previous conduct 
and activities in business or financial matters or the person in question and, in particular, to any evidence 
that the person has:
(a)	 (a)	 committed an offence involving fraud or other dishonesty or violence;
(b)	  contravened any provision made by or under an enactment designed for protecting members of the 

public against financial loss due to dishonesty, incompetence or malpractice by persons concerned 
in the provision of banking, insurance, investment or other financial services or the management of 
companies or against financial loss due to the conduct of discharge or undischarged bankrupt;

(c)	 engaged in any business practices appearing to the board to be deceitful or oppressive or otherwise 
improper (whether unlawful or not) or which otherwise reflect discredit on the person’s method of 
conducting business;

(d)	 an employment record which leads the board to believe that the person carried out an act of 
impropriety in the handling of his employer’s business; or

(e)	 engaged in or been associated with any other business practices or otherwise conducted himself in 
a manner as to cast doubt on his competence and soundness or judgement. 
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Strengthening for 
Sustainable Growth

Through sound banking practices and strategic 
growth, we are reinforcing stability and ensuring a 
secure financial future for Montserrat.
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Directors Profiles 

DALTON A. LEE  | CHAIRMAN

Mr. Dalton A. Lee is one of the founders of Bank of Montserrat Limited and currently serves as Chairman of 
its Board of Directors.  He first joined the Board of Directors in 2015 and in addition to serving as Chairman 
of the Board, he is the Chairman of the Asset & Liability and Corporate Governance & Financial Oversight 
Committees.  He is also a member of the Human Resource Committee.  Mr. Lee is an Accredited Director 
(Accr. Dir.) from the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators/Chartered Secretaries Canada.
He is the principal of Veradenis Business Consulting LLC, which provides financial consulting to small 
and medium-sized companies in the broadcasting, banking, financial services, e-commerce, and 
entertainment industries.  Previously, Mr. Lee was Vice President of Finance/CFO for Meredith Corporation’s 
Local Media Group, where he oversaw all accounting and finance functions, human resources, IT, and 
strategic planning.  He joined Meredith Corporation as Group Controller
Mr. Lee is a magna cum laude graduate of Northeastern University with a BSc in accounting.  He also holds 
a post-graduate certificate in business management from the Cox School of Business Management at 
Southern Methodist University.

AGATHA ASPIN

Ms. Agatha Aspin first joined the Board of Directors of Bank of Montserrat Limited in June 2021.  She 
currently serves on the Credit, Risk & Compliance and Audit Committees and is a Chartered Director (C. 
Dir), Caribbean Governance Training Institute.
Ms. Aspin has a wide range of experiences in areas of business and entrepreneurial development - 
these include but not limited to business counselling, business education, business start-up, business 
development and business financing.  She has made an indelible imprint as a dedicated public servant 
having served as a teacher; Assistant Secretary, Financial Services Centre; Business Development 
Officer, National Development Foundation; Chief Training Officer, Government of Montserrat; Business 
Development Officer/Business Services Manager, Montserrat Development Corporation (MDC); Business 
Development Officer/Business Services Manager, Division of Tourism, Office of the Premier; and Enterprise 
Development Scheme Project Officer, (Consultancy, Ministry of Finance & Economic Management, 
Government of Montserrat).
She also served as a Business Studies Lecturer -  Montserrat Technical College and is currently a Part-
time Lecturer, Management of Business, Montserrat Community College (MCC).    
Ms. Aspin holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Education (B. Ed – Secretarial Studies), University of 
Technology, Jamaica and an MBA (International Business), University of Leeds, UK.  
She is a strong social and community engagement advocate and is a Past President of Montserrat 
Rotary Club.  Ms. Aspin is also a Member of the Montserrat National Awards Committee; Chair of the 
Labour Advisory Board; Immediate Past President, Montserrat Diabetes Association; Treasurer, Montserrat 
Christian Council; Active member of Roman Catholic Faith Community; and ECCB Financial Literacy 
Mentorship Programme
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Directors Profiles 

VENITA CABEY 

Mrs. Venita Cabey first joined the Bank of Montserrat Limited’s Board of Directors in October 2009.  She is 
a past Chairperson of the Board.   Currently, she serves as Chairperson of the Audit Committee and is a 
member of the Corporate Governance & Financial Oversight and Credit Committees.   She is an ACC DIR 
(Directors Education and Accredited Programme) DEAP.
Mrs.  Cabey is a trained Business Education Teacher who has made significant contribution to the 
Education system in Montserrat at the primary, secondary and tertiary levels for a number of years. She 
served as a Lecturer of Principles of Accounts for the UWI Open Campus and Examiner in Principles of 
Accounts for the Caribbean Examination Council (CXC) for several years.     Her most recent service was 
with the Montserrat Social Security Fund in the capacity of Deputy Director/Financial Controller.
She is an ordained Minister in the Church of God of Prophecy and also holds the position of Finance 
Director and Vice Chancellor of The Prophecy School of Biblical Studies.
 Mrs. Cabey is a Fellow of the Global Accountancy Body, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 
(ACCA). 

 
DULEEP CHEDDIE 

Mr. Duleep Cheddie first served on the Board of Directors of Bank of Montserrat Limited 2013-2014, and 
was re-appointed in 2020.  He is a member of the Audit, Risk & Compliance and Corporate Governance 
& Financial Oversight Committees.  Mr. Cheddie is an Accredited Director, ACC DIR (Directors Education 
and Accredited Programme) DEAP.
He is a Member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom, with the 
professional designation FCCA. He retired in 2017 at the end of his Contract as Financial Controller with 
Montserrat Utilities Limited, prior to which he had been engaged as a Financial Adviser to the Ministry of 
Finance, Government of Montserrat August 2013-September 2015.  
Before joining the Government of Montserrat, he held the post of Chief Executive Officer of the St. Kitts-
based Eastern Caribbean Home Mortgage Bank, where he served for six years from June 2007 until 
May 2013.  This appointment followed a three and a half years stint as Financial Controller of St. Lucia 
Electricity Services Limited (LUCELEC) from April 2003. 
Prior to joining LUCELEC in 2003, Mr Cheddie spent most of his working life with the London-based CDC 
Group plc, starting with a subsidiary Guyana Housing & Development Company 1969-1975. In 1976-1978, 
he served as Financial Controller of Dominica Electricity Services Limited, followed by ten years in CDC’s 
Caribbean Office in St. Lucia.  In 1988 he was posted to CDC’s London Office, where he covered East Asia 
& the Pacific Islands, and in 1992 he was transferred to CDC’s Indonesia Office.  In 1994 he assumed the 
position of CDC’s Regional Manager for the Caribbean, based in Barbados, with responsibility for the 
English-speaking Caribbean, until 1997 when he returned to London as CDC’s Regional Manager for East 
Asia & the Pacific Islands.  In 2000 he returned to the Caribbean as CDC’s Regional Manager, based in 
Trinidad.  Following this, he held the post of Finance Director of Montserrat Electricity Services Limited 
2001 – 2003.
Mr Cheddie has chaired and served on several boards and committees, both regionally and in South 
East Asia & the Pacific Islands.  He is currently Chairman of the Montserrat Meals on Wheels Foundation.
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BRUCE FARARA 

Mr. Bruce Farara first joined the Board of Directors of Bank of Montserrat Limited in 2012.  Following a 
five-year break, he was re-elected in 2021.  He currently chairs the Human Resource Committee and is a 
member of the Corporate Governance & Financial Oversight and Asset & Liability Committees.
He is a businessman, entrepreneur and commercial real estate developer who has been in business 
for over forty (40) years and owns several companies, including Caribbean Sand & Aggregate Ltd., 
Equipment & Supplies Ltd., and Sales & Services Ltd.
Mr. Farara was Chairman of the Montserrat Land Development Authority, President of the Montserrat 
Chamber of Commerce, and director of several government statutory boards.  His involvement in 
numerous voluntary organisations, showcases his leadership and commitment to Montserrat.

 
ROBERT FREDERICK 

Mr. Robert Frederick first joined the Board of Directors of Bank of Montserrat Limited in August 2020. He 
currently serves as Chairman of the Credit Committee and is a member of the Human Resource and 
Corporate Governance & Financial Oversight Committees.  Mr. Frederick is a Chartered Director (C.Dir.), 
GTI Caribbean Governance Training Institute.
He is a highly experienced career banker with extensive background in branch banking having worked 
with two leading international financial institutions across the Caribbean.  He has significant depth 
and experience in Corporate/Commercial Finance, Personal Banking, Banking Operations and AML/
Compliance.  Mr. Frederick commenced his banking career with Royal Bank of Canada OECS and held 
several positions with the institution during 1976 – 1984 including Assistant Accountant and Personal 
Banking Officer in St. Lucia.  He also served as Manager, Administration in Montserrat, St. Vincent and St. 
Kitts. 
He transitioned to Bank of Nova Scotia and was employed with that entity from 1984 to 2015 when he 
retired.  During his tenure with Bank of Nova Scotia, Mr. Frederick served as Assistant Manager, Operations 
in St. Kitts/Nevis and Antigua; Credit Trainee, Antigua; Assistant Manager, Credit and Account Manager, 
St. Lucia; Senior Manager - Projects, International Banking; Country Manager, Dominica and Grenada; 
and Commercial Associate, St. Lucia.  He currently serves as an Associate Partner with Digital Financial, 
Toronto, Canada (a boutique consultancy company) and is Co-founder of ACRF Consulting, St. Lucia.  
Mr. Frederick holds Certificates in Fundamentals of Corporate/Commercial Credit, Loan Structuring & 
Pricing, Corporate & Commercial Credit Finance – ICCB Accreditation, Financial Statement Analysis, 
Retail Banking Fundamentals, Operational Risk Management, AML/Compliance Risk Management, 
Performance Management, Loan Structuring (Including Public Debt Restructuring in Dominica), Risk 
Rating Customers and Executive Leadership. 
As a passionate social advocate he is a former member of Rotary Clubs of St. Kitts, Antigua, St. Lucia, 
Dominica and Grenada. Mr. Frederick is Past President and Treasurer of the Rotary Clubs of Dominica and 
St. Lucia, respectively.  He is also a former member of Administration & Finance Committee - Pastoral 
Centre, St. Lucia.  

Directors Profiles 
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ALISON FENTON-WILLOCK 

Ms. Alison Fenton-Willock first joined the Board of Directors of Bank of Montserrat Limited in June 2021.  
She currently serves as the Chairperson of the Risk & Compliance Committee and is also a member of the 
Corporate Governance & Financial Oversight and Human Resource Committees.  Ms. Fenton-Willock is a 
Chartered Director (C.Dir.), GTI Caribbean Governance Training Institute.
Ms.  Fenton–Willock, who was born and raised in Montserrat, is currently Director-Sustainable Investing 
at KKR, a leading global investment firm.  Previously, she was Global Head of ESG at Blackstone where she 
led that firm’s overall approach to Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues that impact its 
investing activities.  She has a rounded background in financial services having spent her entire career in 
the industry at Barclays, PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms in audit, legal and compliance roles.  She 
received a Juris Doctor from NYU School of Law where she was a Staff Editor of the NYU Journal of Law and 
Business, and is a magna cum laude graduate of Baruch College where she earned her Bachelor’s degree 
in Accountancy.

REUBEN T MEADE  

Mr. Reuben T Meade first joined the Board of Directors of Bank of Montserrat Limited in 2022. He currently 
serves on the Audit; Asset & Liability and Risk & Compliance Committees and is a Chartered Director 
(C.Dir.), GTI Caribbean Governance Training Institute.
Mr. Meade has a rich legacy of public service having served as a teacher in Montserrat and Jamaica.  
Additionally, he served as Administrative Cadet and Director of Projects in the Government of Montserrat.   
He also served as Project Analyst at the Caribbean Development Bank (CDB) for six years.  
He demonstrated exceptional vision and leadership as Chief Minister and Minister of Finance of Montserrat 
(1991 – 1996) particularly following the eruption of the Soufriere Hills volcano in 1995 when more than 
half of the island was rendered uninhabitable including the capital, Plymouth.  As a leader, Mr. Meade 
champions the cause of Montserratians. He again served as Premier and Minister of Finance from 2009 
to 2014.  He served continuously as a legislator from 1991 to his retirement from active politics in 2016.  
Mr. Meade holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Economic and Management Studies from the University 
of the West Indies; post graduate studies in Agricultural Economics and Marketing Management at McGill 
University, Canada; Banking and Finance at Bradford University, UK (1981), Rural Credit Management at 
Mananga School of Business in Swaziland (1986) and Project Management at CDB’s Project Administration 
Training Unit (PATU) (1983). 
He is a devoted son of Montserrat who served as President of the Montserrat Cricket Association, 
Executive member of the Leeward Islands Cricket Association; Salem Community Group and Advisor 
Salem Community Development Group.
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Directors Profiles 

JOHN P OSBORNE  

Mr. John P Osborne first joined the Board of Directors of Bank of Montserrat Limited in 2015.  He 
currently serves as a member of the Audit, Credit and Risk & Compliance Committees.  Mr. Osborne 
is an Accredited Director (Accr. Dir.) from the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators/
Chartered Secretaries Canada.
He is a charismatic and self-motivated entrepreneur, with a background in the Sciences and a keen 
interest in financial markets and investment.  Mr. Osborne is owner and manager of Osborne Service 
Centre, Managing Director of Osborne Investments LLC and Owner and Manager of Osborne Farms.
Mr. Osborne holds a Bachelor’s of Science Degree in Biology from the University of Kentucky, Dental 
Assistant Certificate, Smile Career Academy, Miami and Certificate EFI Programmer, EFI University.
He is an avid supporter of youth development and community & stakeholder engagement.  Consistent 
with his unwavering support for youth development he founded the Montserrat Youth Sports Enterprise 
and Learning Fund and currently serves as its President.    Mr. Osborne also served as President of the 
Montserrat Motorsports (2014 – 2016).  

 
JOSEPH IRISH 

Mr. Joseph Irish first joined the Board of Directors of Bank of Montserrat Limited in 2022.  He currently 
serves on the Risk & Compliance, Credit and Asset & Liability Committees.  
He served as Financial Secretary (Ag)/Deputy Financial Secretary (Ag) with the Ministry of Finance & 
Economic Development; Director, Economic Management/Director of Montserrat; and Project Officer/
Senior Economist (Ag), Government of Montserrat.  In 2018, he transitioned to self-employment status 
when he established his own business, CGI Car Rental and Sales.
Mr. Irish holds a BSc. with Honours in economics and finance from the University of Hertfordshire, UK; 
MSc Project Planning & Management, University Bradford, UK; and a Certificate in Higher Education in 
Business and Law, Enfield College, UK.

KORAH GALLOWAY | CORPORATE SECRETARY   

Ms. Korah Galloway, appointed as Corporate Secretary to the Bank of Montserrat Ltd.’s Board of Directors 
in September 2022, is a Chartered Corporate Secretary certified by the Caribbean Governance Training 
Institute in St. Lucia. With nearly 20 years of experience, she is a highly accomplished attorney-at-law, 
Solicitor-Advocate, Corporate Secretary, and Court Connected Mediator. Her extensive legal career includes 
18 years of experience, with 11 years of post-qualification experience and four years as a Prosecutor, 
specializing in Town and Country Planning. Ms. Galloway has practiced law in the UK, Montserrat, and 
the Bahamas, demonstrating a deep understanding of British and Caribbean jurisprudence through 
roles such as Crown Counsel and Private Practice Solicitor. She currently works as a Senior Lawyer at 
Pathfinder Legal Services Ltd. in Huntingdon, Cambridgeshire. 

Her educational background includes a Bachelor of Laws (LL.B.) from Aberystwyth University, a 
Postgraduate Diploma in Legal Practice (L.P.C.) from the College of Law in London, and a Legal Education 
Certificate (L.E.C.) from Eugene Dupuch Law School. She also holds additional certificates in Professional 
Skills, Joint Assessors’ Training, and Mediation Training. Ms. Galloway is a member of several professional 
organizations and has served in various community and leadership roles, including as President of 
the Montserrat Bar Association and Representative for Montserrat on the Commonwealth Lawyers 
Association Council.
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Chairman’s
Report

Dalton A. Lee
Chairman

Bank of Montserrat remains a top performer 
in the banking sector.  The Bank is stable with 
adequate capital to respond to downside local 
and international risks.

At Bank of Montserrat Limited we champion our 
legacy of impact innovation to shape Montserrat’s 
economic and financial landscape.  As the only 
commercial bank on the island, we are aware that 
our vital role must transcend banking services, and 
we must be wealth creators, fostering sustainable 
economic growth that transforms the lives of our 
citizens and future generations.  
Our 2024 theme, Shaping Tomorrow – Innovating 
and Strengthening for Sustainable Growth 
embodies our continued efforts to modernize our 
banking services creating greater efficiency and 
an excellent customer experience.  It symbolizes 
our commitment to maintaining strong corporate 
governance principles, a well-capitalized 
institution, a culture of collaboration, integrity and 
trust among our employees and making decisions 

that promote economic resilience.
We are pleased to announce that following the 
payment of a dividend of 39 cents per share for 
the 2023 financial year, the Board has declared 
a dividend payment of 37 cents per share for the 
2024 financial year which will be placed before the 
shareholders for approval at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM).    

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE 
Global Environment

The global economy is estimated to have grown 
by 3.2% in 2024 (International Monetary Fund’s 
(“IMF”) World Economic Outlook January 2025), 
despite geopolitical and geoeconomic tensions 

TABLE OF CONTENTS
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and international trade uncertainty.  The current 
IMF forecast is for global growth of 2.8% in 2025 and 
3% in 2026 which is below the earlier projections 
of 3.3% for both years and significantly less than 
the historical (2000–19) average of 3.7% (IMF World 
Economic Outlook April 2025).  
The United States has implemented several 
tariff measures with its trading partners 
issuing countermeasures which has resulted in 
unprecedented tariff levels.  This has negatively 
impacted economic growth and created 
uncertainty for global economic activity.  With 
circumstances remaining relatively fluid, high level 
of policy uncertainty and trade tensions are likely 
to characterize the global economic situation.  
Economic uncertainty is likely to negatively 
impact the financial system, and global inflation 
is expected to reduce at a slower pace than 
originally predicted.  

Regional Environment

The Caribbean economy excluding Guyana grew 
at a moderate pace of 1.7% on account of continued 
strong performance in tourism and commodity 
expansion.  The Guyana economy grew significantly 
by 43.5% driven by oil production (Caribbean 
Development Bank – Caribbean Economic Review 
and Outlook 2024 – 2025).  Public sector debt 
improved across the Caribbean in most markets 
and inflation softened.  Meanwhile, regional 
growth is projected to continue at a moderate 
level of 2.5% in 2025 driven primarily by tourism 
and construction activity.   Notwithstanding, the 
Caribbean is expected to face strong headwinds 
from possible escalation in geopolitical tensions, 
decline in activity in major economies, potential 
restriction in global trade and continual risk of 
natural disaster.    
Economic activity in the Eastern Caribbean 
Currency Union (ECCU) remained strong in 2024 
at 3.9% premised on robust tourism activity 
and infrastructure investment (IMF - Eastern 
Caribbean Currency Union – Staff Report for the 
2025 Discussion on Common Policies of Member 
Countries).  Meanwhile, inflation is estimated 
to have reduced to below 2% and while some 
countries continue to reduce debt levels, public 
sector debt was high at 71% of GDP (gross 
domestic product).  The Eastern Caribbean dollar 
remained strong, facilitated by the ECCB’s stable 
reserves.  The financial sector was considered 
stable although concerns with asset quality and 
credit conditions remained.    

However, after riding the wave of recovery from the 
pandemic, economic activity is forecast to slow 
down to 2.5% influenced by modest productivity 
and local investment.  The region’s economic 
activity is also expected to be negatively impacted 
by an ageing population, a declining labour 
force, constraints in public sector investment, 
geopolitical pressures, reduced Citizenship-by-
Investment revenue and natural hazards.  

Local Environment

Economic activity in Montserrat is estimated to 
have expanded in 2024 by 3.7% driven mainly by 
strong performance in tourism, increased public 
sector capital expenditure and investment in 
private sector commercial spaces (ECCB Economic 
Financial Review/CDB Caribbean Economic Review 
and Outlook 2024 – 2025).  The growth in tourism 
activity also influenced improved performance 
in ancillary sectors.  There was an uptick in 
inflation rates, but it remained manageable.  The 
government’s fiscal performance recorded overall 
and primary surpluses.  This performance aligned 
with ongoing prudent fiscal management as the 
government continues to depend on budgetary 
aid from the United Kingdom.  The banking sector 
remained strong with high levels of liquidity and 
strong capital.
The forecast for Montserrat’s economy is projected 
at 4% premised on continued strong tourism 
performance as the government continues to 
provide greater access to the island with the 
introduction of flights by Winair.  An uptick in 
construction is also anticipated with capital 
projects including the Little Bay Port Development, 
Glendon Hospital, Montserrat Secondary School 
Rehabilitation, Salem Community Rehabilitation 
and investment in geothermal and energy.  
Nonetheless, downside risks remain including 
geopolitical tensions which could influence higher 
oil prices, restricted trade flows associated with 
protectionist policies implemented by major 
economies and possible natural disasters.
The Bank of Montserrat will continue to ensure fiscal 
responsibility and a strong financial framework in 
order to effectively mitigate economic challenges 
while taking advantage of opportunities.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
For the second consecutive year, the Bank delivered 
outstanding financial results following a financial 
loss in 2022.  This performance is a testament to 
the Bank’s financial resilience and the successful 
implementation of its strategic initiatives, setting 
the trajectory for continued robust financial 
achievement.  
During the 2024 financial year, Bank of Montserrat 
recorded net income before tax of $6.4 million 
compared to $6.8 million in the prior year.  The 
decline in net income was primarily associated with 
an increase in non-interest expenses (operating 
expenses) of $1.7 million or 18.0% coupled with a 
rise of $1.5 million or 368.5% in impairment losses 
on financial assets.  The growth in non-interest 
expenses was driven mainly by other operating 
expenses which were largely influenced by the 
cost associated with the Bank’s purchase of its 
credit card portfolio from the Caribbean Credit 
Card Corporation (4Cs). The cost was primarily 
due to credit card processing and network fees 
which amounted to $851,816.  
The increase in impairment losses was largely 
influenced by the write off of allowance for 
impairment losses.  However, these were partially 
offset by strong growth in investment income and 
moderate results in loan income.  Net operating 
income before impairment was $8.3 million, 
indicating that the Bank’s income from its core 
activities remained strong.    
Of note is $0.5 million or 9.6% in other income 
which was mainly attributable to an expansion 
in service fees and commissions of 30.5% as the 
Bank continued its efforts to transition to a regime 
of greater fee income.  However, this was partially 
offset by $0.2 million or 7.1% contraction in net 
foreign exchange gain as the sterling rate declined.
For the 2024 financial year, the Bank continued to 
demonstrate sustainable financial growth which 
was reflected in its return on assets of 1.3%, return 
on equity of 13.8% and efficiency ratio of 65. %.  The 
Bank maintained strong liquidity reflected in the 
loans to deposit ratio of 27.01%.  
The Bank’s Capital Adequacy Ratio (“CAR”) 
recorded an improvement over the 2023 level 
recording a CAR of 24.7% compared to 19.9%.  This 
ratio is well above the ECCB’s guideline of 8.0% and 
the proposed updated guideline of 10.0% under the 
BASEL II/III standard.  
Despite an operating environment characterized 
by a small population, expanding regulatory and 
business requirements and global economic 
unpredictability, Bank of Montserrat remains a top 

performer in the banking sector.  The Bank is stable 
with adequate capital to respond to downside 
local and international risks.    

FAREWELL
I have come to the end of my tenure as Chairman 
and Director on the Board of Directors of Bank of 
Montserrat as I will step away from the institution 
after the Annual General Meeting.  During my 
tenure as Chairman over the last seven years, the 
Bank recorded a solid performance.
Over the last seven years, the Bank recorded 
profits every year except for 2022. The decline in 
earnings was attributed in part to a decline in 
interest income on loans that moved from $6.3M in 
2021 to $5.9M in 2022, an increase in provisions on 
loans of $2.3M as well as $1.6M on investments in 
2022.  The Bank also had to write-off loans totaling 
$3.6m in keeping with prudential standards. Below 
are some of the financial highlights:

•	 Net profits before tax grew by $2.2 million or 
53.4% to $6.4 million representing an average 
increase of 7.6% per year over the seven-year 
period.  In 2023, the Bank delivered its best 
financial performance in over 15 years with 
net profits before tax of $6.8 million.

•	 Interest income ballooned by $7.9 million or 
79.1% to $18.0 million.

•	 Total income expanded by $10.4 million or 
75.9% to $24.1 million.

•	 Operating income increased significantly by 
$8.3 million or 73.5% to $19.7 million.

•	 Earnings Per Share (EPS) grew from $0.82 
(82 cents) to $0.92 (92 cents) as the Bank 
continued to implement strategic initiatives 
to ensure sustainable earnings.

•	 While the Bank is not listed on a securities 
exchange to determine the market price, the 
book value of the shares grew from $6.72 to 
$7.72, which is a demonstration of the Bank’s 
continued financial resilience.

•	 Our shareholders continue to benefit from 
their investment in the Bank.  Over the last 
seven years, the Bank has consistently paid 
dividends which grew from 33 cents per share 
in 2018 to a high of 39 cents per share in 2023. 

•	 The Bank achieved the ECCB’s mandated 
paid up capital of EC$20 million in 2020.

•	 The largest loan in the history of the institution 
was booked in 2023.
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INNOVATING
As part of its strategic vision to enhance customer 
experience, the Bank has been gradually 
implementing its digital transformation strategy.  
Below are some of the initiatives implemented: 

•	 Launch of mobile banking app facilitating 
online international wire transfers, electronic 
funds transfers (EFT), third party payments, 
peer-to-peer transactions and cell phone 
top ups.  

•	 Partnering with merchants on the island 
to expand the number of point-of-sale 
terminals.  There are over 30 merchants with 
point-of-sale terminals providing seamless 
payment transactions for customers.

•	 Relaunch of the website to provide more 
relevant information and greater access to 
the Bank’s services and products.

•	 Introduction of the Mastercard cross border 
solution which provides fast, efficient and 
cheaper international transactions.  

STRENGTHENING 
The Bank continued to strengthen its foundation by 
adopting strong corporate governance principles. 
Some of the highlights include the following:

•	 Meeting ECCB Independent Director 
guideline.

•	 Introduction of minimum certification for all 
directors and committee chairs.

•	 Annual training of directors.
•	 Implementation of Corporate Governance 

framework.
•	 Introduction of a Code of conduct.
•	 Adoption of a Whistle Blower policy.

As part of the Bank’s commitment to people 
success, we also expanded the building to 
facilitate staff growth. 
Additionally, having been with the Bank at its 
inception, I was pleased to also have been with 
the bank when it accomplished its next significant 
milestone in its maturity, the acquisition of the 
banking operations of the Royal Bank of Canada in 
Montserrat in April 2021.  This acquisition has been 
accretive to the profitability of the bank and has 
set the bank on a path for long term consistent 
profitability. 

WAY FORWARD
Looking ahead, the Bank intends to continue 
to invest in technology ensuring that its digital 
transformation is achieved.  Some of the initiatives 
in progress include the following:

•	 Introduction of a USA based cross border 
solution.

•	 Modernization and expansion of the ATM 
network.

•	 Visa/Mastercard acceptance at ATMs.
•	 Updating of the Bank’s website to allow 

for onboarding of new accounts and loan 
application.

APPRECIATION 
As I say farewell to the institution, I wish to place on 
record my sincere appreciation to the dedicated 
staff of the Bank who continue to perform 
remarkably.  Their unstinting commitment to the 
growth of the Bank is a demonstration of their 
support for the success of the institution.  
Subsequent to the end of the fiscal year, our 
Senior Operations Manager, Kathyan Fenton-
Lee suffered an unfortunate illness and has been 
away from the institution.  We continue to pray for 
her recovery and express our profound gratitude 
for her years of service.  
I am grateful to my fellow Directors for their support 
during my tenure as Chairman.  Together we have 
made this institution a success and I trust that you 
will continue to accomplish the strategic goals of 
the institution.  
To our loyal customers we thank you for your 
support over the years.  We have established a 
foundation to continue the digital transformation 
of the institution and improve customer 
experience, and these will be progressed in the 
coming years.  
To our shareholders we thank you for your trust in 
us.  The Bank has been set on a pathway to financial 
resilience and growth, and you will continue to be 
rewarded with the payment of dividends.  
I am grateful to all our stakeholders for your 
support during my tenure…. Farewell.  

Dalton A. Lee
Chairman
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Expressed in Eastern 
Caribbean Dollars

2024 
(000)

2023
(000)

2022
(000)

2021 Restated
(000)

2019 Restated
(000)

BALANCE SHEET

Total Assets 474,621 418,404 410,078 426,019 239,364

Total Deposits 386,032 367,516 376,547 377,250 191,648

Investments (Net) 235,418 185,910 180,276 153,039 96,338

Loans & Advances (Net) 104,591 97,850 93,021 100,694 95,383

INCOME STATEMENT

Interest Income 17,996 15,580 11,857 10,121 10,141

Other Income 6,066 5,534 7,268 4,275 2,724

Total Income 24,063 21,114 19,125 14,396 12,865

Interest Expense 4,399 4,247 4,159 3,419 2,504

Operating Expenses 11,321 9,590 9,311 9,330 7,977

Operating Income 8,342 7,277 5,655 1,647 2,385

Provisions for impairments (1,967) (420) (7,153)               (1,386) 1,442

Net Profits Before Tax 6,375 6,858 (1,499) 261 3,827

EQUITY

Authorized Share Capital 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000

Paid-Up Share Capital 20,207 20,207 20,064 20,060 20,038

Shareholders' Equity 46,202 35,034 27,775 42,691 43,122

Retained Earnings 16,519 15,923 10,473 8,011 9,046

RATIOS

Loans/Deposits Ratio 27.09% 26.62% 24.70% 26.69% 49.77%

# of shares issued 5,985,727 5,985,696 5,955,091 5,954,545 5,951,462

Book value of shares $            7.72            5.85            4.67 7.17 7.25

Earnings per share ¢ 0.92 0.97 (0.05) 0.20 0.62

Return on Assets % 1.34 1.64 (0.37) 0.06 1.60

Return on Equity % 13.80 19.57 (5.40) 0.61 8.87

Efficiency Ratio1  % 65.33 65.53 70.43 88.56 81.47

Capital Adequacy Ratio % 24.70 19.90 15.80 22.50 36.80

Dividends payout per share ¢ -  0.39 - - 0.25

Financial Highlights
Bank of Montserrat Limited – 2024 Annual Report - $000

  1Total expenses as a percentage of total income
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Innovating for 
Sustainable Growth

By embracing digital transformation and modern 
banking solutions, we are enhancing accessibility, 
efficiency, and long-term financial resilience for 
Montserrat.
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Management Team

Deslyne Plato, Accountant; Kathyan Lee-Fenton, Senior 
Operations Manager; 

Left to Right: Chesley Antoine Acting General Manager, 
Carla Lee, Internal Auditor, Keri Matthew, Risk and 
Compliance Manager

(missing)

TABLE OF CONTENTS
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Department Teams

1

3

4

6

7

2

8

9

5

1 - Credit Team
Amivi Hall, Senior Loans Officer – 
sitting 
Tashon-Jay Browne, Loans Clerk – 
standing 
 
2 - Administration Team
Left to Right: Sabine Nelson, 
Administrative Assistant and 
Chesley Antoine, Acting General 
Manager

3 - Risk and Compliance Team
Keri Matthew, Risk and 
Compliance Manager – sitting 
Brenda Lee-Buffonge, 
Compliance/ML Reporting Officer 
– standing   
 
4 - Hygiene Technician Team
Left to Right: Sonia Shields and 
Jean Jno Baptiste-Smith 

5 - Central Processing Team
Left to Right: Macia Athanaze-
Esprit, Processing Clerk
Alison Richards, Verification 
Officer
Delcina Cabey, Senior Supervisor 
Jade Morillo – Processing Clerk 
Missing: James Cabey, Proof 
Teller 

6 - IT Team
Left to Right: Walter Blake, Acting 
IT Manager and Jamal Joseph, IT 
Assistant 

7 - Internal Audit Team
Left to Right: Meliek Richards, 
Auditor and Carla Lee, Internal 
Auditor  

8 - Accounting Team
Chenea Browne, Accounting 
Officer – sitting 
Lauren Estwick, Intern – standing 
Missing: Deslyne Plato, 
Accountant

9 - Security Team
Left to Right: Fitzroy Moulon and 
Eoin McPhoy 

10.  - Customer Service Team
Left to Right: Angela Lou-
is-Charles Supervisor, Jezell 
Jackson
Teller, Achlen Browne,Teller; 
Rashawna Cameron,
Teller ; Tajera Anderson Teller ; 
Jodane Hutchins, 
Teller ; Nvika Kelly, CSR

10

TABLE OF CONTENTS
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The Bank of Montserrat Limited’s Board presents its 2024 
Directors’ Report, highlighting strong governance, strategic 
oversight, and a 94% meeting attendance rate. A 37-
cent dividend per share is recommended, reflecting solid 
performance and commitment to long-term stakeholder value.

OVERVIEW
Your Board is pleased to present its Directors’ 
Report for the financial year ended 30 September 
2024, highlighting its work throughout the relevant 
period.  This Report demonstrates the Board’s 
continued commitment to comply with applicable 
legal and regulatory obligations, its Bylaws and 
other governing documents, its policies and 
evolving governance best practices.
Directors serve as stewards of the Bank of Montserrat 
Limited (“BoML”, “the Bank”) exercising independent 
judgment in overseeing Management of BoML’s 
business and safeguarding the respective interests 
of its stakeholders with a view to enhancing long-
term value.

An effective Corporate Governance Framework 
remains key to ensuring an independent Board.  
The Board not only sets BoML’s strategic direction, 
but also oversees the policies and practices that 
monitor, measure and report on its performance 
in a transparent manner to secure BoML’s interests 
on a sustainable basis while recognizing the strong 
public interest in the economic health of BoML.
Guided by BoML’s core values Tone from the top, 
Fiduciary Responsibility, Stewardship, Integrity, Fit 
and Proper, Independence, Continuous Education 
and Participate, the Board remains resolute in its 
position that the right corporate culture must be 
championed by the right leaders, operating within 
the right risk appetite and governance framework 

Korah Galloway (Ms.)
Corporate Secretary

Directors’ 
Report
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in the context of changing regulation and emerging best practices which is sustained on a daily 
basis by open communication, mutual respect and a commitment to fostering employee growth and 
development.

THE BOARD’S OBJECTIVES
The primary objective of the Board is to safeguard the BoML’s interests on a sustainable basis while 
recognizing the strong public interest in the economic health of BoML.  The Board sets the strategic 
direction for BoML and provides oversight of BoML’s operations to ensure compliance with regulatory 
guidelines and BoML’s approved policies and procedures. Implementation of the strategy is delegated 
to Management under the leadership of the General Manager.

Other key functions of the Board include:
1.	 Approving the strategic objectives for BoML.
2.	 The establishment and approval of policies to guide BoML’s operations.
3.	 Establishment and approval of BoML’s overall risk appetite.
4.	 The approval of annual operating and capital budgets.
5.	 Hiring, evaluating and terminating of executive management.
6.	 Approving of all expenditure and lending above the approved limits for the General Manager.

RESPONSIBILITY ACTIVITIES
Conduct and 
culture

•	 Promoted standards of desired behaviors that apply to Directors, Managers 
and all Employees in accordance with the BoML’s Directors and Employee 
Code of Conduct.

•	 Reviewed the Audit and Credit Committee Charters.
•	 Reviewed the Whistleblower Policy to ensure it remains consistent with 

industry developments.

Strategic Direction •	 Oversaw BoML’s strategic direction, plans and priorities and ensured that they 
aligned with BoML’s risk appetite with regular reporting by Management.

•	 Assessed the Bank’s performance against:
*	 past performance
*	 financial and other objectives established in budget projections
*	 industry peers

Governance •	 Monitored best governance practices and developed principles and 
guidelines.

•	 Independently assessed the performance of the Board and individual 
Directors based on select parameters, addressing areas identified for 
improvement.

•	 During the financial year ended 30 September 2024, new policies were 
approved and existing policies reviewed including:

*	 Know Your Employee Policy
*	 Bereavement Policy
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RESPONSIBILITY ACTIVITIES
Risk Oversight •	 Conducted a wholesale review of the Enterprise Risk Management Policy and 

Framework.
•	 Conducted a review of Emerging Risk, Core Banking Risk and, Evaluated the 

top Five Risks of the BoML.
•	 Promoted a strong risk management culture based on a clear understanding 

of applicable risks, disciplined risk assessment, measurement procedures and 
continuous monitoring which improved the risk maturity of BoML.

Technological 
Enhancement

•	 Ensured that IT strategy was aligned with business strategy.
•	 Reviewed IT risks and approved continued investment in the upgrade of 

BoML’s Network Infrastructure.
Financial reporting 
and internal 
controls

•	 Oversaw compliance with applicable audit, accounting and financial reporting 
requirements.

•	 Monitored Management’s implementation and maintenance of effective 
internal control systems, including management information systems and 
assessed their adequacy and effectiveness.

Talent 
management 
and succession 
planning

•	 Reviewed and/or updated strategies and programmes for assessment and 
development of talent.

*	 Training Plan
*	 Succession Plan

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The Board comprises Non-Executive Directors who do not participate in the day-to-day administration 
of BoML, nor engage in any business dealings or other relationships with BoML (other than circumstances 
permitted by applicable regulations). This ensures that Directors remain capable of exercising 
independent judgment and act in the best interests of BoML.
The criteria for determining whether a Director is independent was reviewed within the context of BoML’s 
Corporate Governance Framework (replaced with the Board of Directors Charter) which manages any 
direct or indirect relationship that a Director has with BoML that may adversely impact the transparency 
of the decision-making process.
BoML ensures that all Independent Non-Executive Directors continue to satisfy the fit and proper 
requirements, as provided under the Banking Act, 2015 (as amended).

BoML’s BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Article 56 of BoML’s Bylaws provides that there shall not be less than five (5) or more than twenty-one 
(21) Directors. At present, the Board comprises eleven (11) non-executive Directors in accordance with 
this Article.  The 1st National Bank of St. Lucia directorship remains vacant.
BoML’s Board of Directors is comprised of dedicated professionals, who demonstrate a balance of skills 
and expertise that allow for high value contributions to be made at the Board level.   
In keeping with the ECCB’s Prudential Guidelines on board composition, which requires that banks should 
strive to maintain at least a 20% ratio of independent directors to non-independent directors. Two 
independent directors have been appointed in the persons of Agatha Aspin and Robert Frederick.  Both 
Mrs. Aspin and Mr. Frederick meet the ECCB’s guidelines for independent directors.  With the presence of 
these two directors, the board is in compliance with the ECCB standard for board composition.
BoML is fortunate to have Directors who continue to bring their respective diverse perspectives to the 
boardroom, are committed to high standards of corporate governance and performance of their 
functions on behalf of the shareholders and display a collaborative spirit on BoML’s Board.
As at 30 September 2024, Dalton Lee is the appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors assisted by, 
Agatha Aspin, Venita Cabey, Duleep Cheddie, Bruce Farara, Alison Fenton – Willock, Robert Frederick, 
Reuben T. Meade, Joseph L. Irish and John P Osborne.  
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BoML’S RETIRING DIRECTORS
At this year’s Annual General Meeting, the following two (2) Directors will retire upon rotation:

•	 Duleep Cheddie (elected May 2021)
•	 Joseph L. Irish (elected May 2021)

The two (2) Directors remain eligible and offer themselves for re-election.
At this year’s Annual General Meeting, the following two (2) Directors who were appointed by the 
Board to fill two (2) casual vacancies are eligible and offer themselves for re-election. 

•	 Chivone Gerald (appointed November 2024).
•	 Phylistine Weekes (appointed November 2024)

Accordingly, based on the above, the number of Directors to be elected at this year’s Annual General 
Meeting is four (4).

BoML BOARD MEETINGS
In fulfillment of the requirements of the Bank’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Board of 
Directors is required to meet at least once a month.  Meetings are generally held in person and/or 
virtually using the Bank’s secure LifeSize Video Conferencing portal.  Although directors are required 
to attend all meetings, provision is made in the Corporate Governance Framework for a minimum 
attendance of 80% without explanation.  
A total of fourteen (14) meetings were held during the financial year and we are pleased to report 
that the average attendance rate of all directors during the fiscal year was 94%.
With respect to Director Attendance at Board Meetings, the following information is provided as at 30 
September 2024:

Board Total Number of Monthly 
Board Meetings hosted

Total Number of Special 
Board Meetings hosted

Average Percentage 
Attendance

BoML Board of Directors 12 2 94%  

Director Total Number of Monthly 
Board Meetings Attended

Total Number of Monthly 
Board Meetings hosted

Average Percentage 
Attendance

Dalton Lee (Chairman) 14 14 100%
Agatha Aspin 14 14 100%
Allison Fenton-Willock 14 12 86%
John P. Osborne* 14 13 93%
Joseph L. Irish 14 14 100%
Robert Frederick 14 14 100%
Bruce Farara 14 11 79%
Duleep Cheddie 14 12 86%
Reuben T. Meade* 14 14 100%
Venita Cabey 14 14 100%

Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole number.

*resigned from the Board October 2024
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BoML BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES
There are now six (6) standing Committees of the Board that oversees BoML’s operations.  The Committees 
are constituted by the Chairman of the Board and are rotated on an as needed basis but not less than 
once every three years.  
Each Committee of the Board is governed by a Committee Charter which is approved by the Board of 
Directors.  The Committee Charters outline the roles and responsibilities of each Committee, its scope 
of authority and the frequency of Committee meetings.  Each Committee meets at least quarterly, with 
some convening much more frequently due to the nature of their oversight responsibilities.  The current 
Board Committee members are as follows:

Name of Board
Sub- Committee

Board Sub- Committee Members Total Number 
of Committee 

Meetings hosted

Average 
Percentage 
Attendance

Corporate Governance 
& Financial Oversight 
Committee

Dalton Lee (Chairperson), 
Alison Fenton-Willock, Robert Frederick, 

Bruce Farara and Venita Cabey

4 90%

Audit Committee Venita Cabey (Chairperson), Agatha Aspin, 
John P. Osborne, Duleep Cheddie and 

Reuben T. Meade

13 94%

HR Committee Bruce Farara (Chairperson), Dalton Lee, 
Alison Fenton-Willock, Robert Frederick, 

Duleep Cheddie** and Venita Cabey 

5 100%

Risk and Compliance 
Committee 

Alison Fenton-Willock (Chairperson), 
Agatha Aspin, John P. Osborne,  

Joseph L. Irish and Reuben T. Meade

6 93.4%

Credit Committee Robert Frederick (Chairperson),  
Agatha Aspin, John P. Osborne,   
Joseph L. Irish and Venita Cabey 

13 91%

ALCO Dalton Lee (Chairperson), Joseph L. Irish, 
Bruce Farara; John P. Osborne, Duleep 

Cheddie and Reuben T. Meade 

5 88%

Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole number. 
**resigned from the Human Resources Committee March 2024

BoML’s COMMITMENT TO HELPING OUR DIRECTORS SUCCEED IN THEIR ROLE
BoML recognises its responsibility to continue to source training programmes for Directors that will 
enhance Directors’ knowledge and improve effectiveness. This is in the context of the increasing 
demands placed on Directors in response to legislative and regulatory requirements and the evolving 
environment within which BoML operates.
New Directors receive a thorough induction to the role, with the process being guided by BoML’s 
Orientation Programme. Directors also have access to the resources they need to focus on continuous 
professional development to ensure that each Director is equipped with the right tools to perform their 
respective duties and responsibilities. 
During the last financial year, directors participated in the following professional development activities:

•	 Agile Board
•	 AI Governance 101- Oversight of Artificial Intelligence within the Organization
•	 AML/CFT Training
•	 Directors’ Education & Accreditation Programme
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•	 Enhancing Privacy & Data Governance in the Caribbean Financial Sector 
•	 Executive Compensation Fundamentals 
•	 Human Resources Mandate and Requirement for Board Members
•	 Managing Board Effectiveness
•	 The Human Resources Mandate and Requirements for Board Members

BoML’S APPROACH TO DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Experienced, focused and talented directors are essential to achieving BoML’s strategic objectives and 
providing effective guidance and oversight of Management.

GOVERNANCE GROUP BANK OF MONTSERRAT LIMITED
($EC)

Board of Directors
Chairman of the Board $3,000 
Directors $2,000 

Committees
Credit Committee $750
All Other $500

Directors who are appointed to represent BoML at conferences, seminars or training courses, are 
entitled to be paid for their travelling and other expenses, as reasonably incurred, in accordance with 
Bank of Montserrat Travel and Entertainment Policy for Directors approved in November 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
Article 62 of BoML’s Bylaws requires each BoML director to be the holder of at least 200 shares unless 
they are on the Board by virtue of their expertise, but this is limited to a maximum of three (3) directors.
As at 30 September 2024, directors held the following shareholding interests in the Bank:

Name Representing Term Number of 
Shares Held

Dalton Lee Government of Montserrat Aug 2024 – Aug 2027 2,567
Agatha Aspin Independent Director Aug 2024 – Aug 2027 217
Venita Cabey Government of Montserrat Aug 2024 – Aug 2027 6,402
Duleep Cheddie Government of Montserrat Mar 2022 – Mar 2025 2,396
Bruce Farara Ordinary Shareholders Aug 2024 – Aug 2027 239,431
Alison Fenton - Willock Ordinary Shareholders Aug 2024 – Aug 2027 2,139
Robert Frederick Independent Director May 2023 – May 2026 Nil
Reuben T. Meade Government of Montserrat May 2023– May 2026 15,415
Joseph L. Irish Government of Montserrat Mar 2022 – Mar 2025 Nil
John P Osborne Ordinary Shareholders Mar 2022 – Mar 2025 34,688
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BoML’S SHAREHOLDING DISTRIBUTION
The Banking Act, 2015(as amended) defines a Significant Shareholder as a person who beneficially 
owns, directly or indirectly or exercises control over voting or a combination of both, of more than ten 
percent (10%) of the total voting rights of the Company. As at 30 September 2024, both the Government 
of Montserrat, and 1st National Bank, St. Lucia satisfies this definition.
BoML’s shareholding distribution reflects 5,985,696 ordinary shares.  The total number of individual 
Shareholder Accounts is 2,304 as at 30 September 2024.

BoML’S SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMENT PRACTICES
Open dialogue with Shareholders remains one of BoML’s key priorities. The Board encourages shareholders 
to provide timely and meaningful feedback and regularly reviews its engagement with shareholders for 
alignment with best practices.

DIVIDEND
In accordance with Article 85 of BoML’s Bylaws, the Board has resolved to recommend a dividend 
payment of $2,214,718.99 or $0.37 per share.
The Board remains guided by the relevant sections of the Companies Act No. 15 of 2023, as amended, 
the Banking Act, 2015 (as amended) good governance procedures and other guidelines issued from 
ECCB from time to time.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
BoML’s External Auditors, PKF, vacates office in accordance with Section 60(2) of the Banking Act 2015 
(as amended) which states, “An external auditor may not serve for more than nine consecutive years; 
however, the lead and concurring audit partner shall be changed every six years.” In September 2024, 
the Bank issued a Request for Proposal (RFP) to five international accounting firms seeking proposals 
to be appointed as the Bank’s External Auditors, and upon evaluation, BDO emerged as the preferred 
candidate.  BDO previously served as the Bank’s External Auditors.

The Board has recommended the appointment of BDO subject to the approval of the shareholders at  
the Annual General Meeting.   

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Korah Galloway (Ms.)
Corporate Secretary
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Management 
Discussion & Analysis

OVERVIEW
Bank of Montserrat Limited  
demonstrated strong resilience 
and solid performance during the 
2024 financial year, successfully 
navigating a complex and evolving 
macroeconomic environment. 
Despite facing global market volatility, 
shifting regulatory frameworks, 
and persistent demographic and 
structural challenges within the local 
economy, the Bank maintained a 
stable and well-capitalized financial 
position.

Throughout the year, the Bank 
upheld its commitment to disciplined 
execution of its strategic initiatives, 
resulting in high levels of liquidity, 
consistent profitability, and sustained 
operational efficiency. These 
outcomes are a testament to the 
Bank’s sound financial management 
practices, prudent risk governance, 
and agile response to emerging 
opportunities and risks.

As the economic landscape continues 
to evolve, Bank of Montserrat Limited  
remains focused on reinforcing its 
core strengths, enhancing stakeholder 
value, and contributing meaningfully 
to national economic development.

Chesley M. A. Antoine 
General Manager (Ag) 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
Bank of Montserrat Limited reported a net profit 
before tax of $6.4 million for the financial year 
2024, reflecting a moderate decline of $482,324 
(or 7.0%) relative to the $6.8 million recorded in 
2023. The reduction in profitability was primarily 
attributable to an increase in non-interest 
expenses of $1.7 million and a substantial 
increase in impairment, which rose by $1.5 million, 
indicative of a more cautious credit risk posture 
and provisioning in response to evolving credit 
conditions.

Despite the contraction in bottom-line earnings, 
the bank’s core operating performance remained 
satisfactory.  Net operating income before 
impairment expanded by $1.1 million or 14.6%, 
underscoring sustained momentum in the bank’s 
income-generating capacity. This improvement 
was largely driven by strong growth in net interest 
income supported by stable contributions from 
non-interest income streams, which collectively 
helped cushion the adverse effects of increased 
credit provisioning.

The bank’s ability to deliver operating income 
growth amid elevated impairment costs highlights 
its robust earnings fundamentals and operational 
efficiency. Looking ahead, a sustained focus on 
prudent credit risk management, portfolio quality 
enhancement, and income diversification are 
critical to preserving profitability and ensuring 
long-term financial resilience.

Net profits before Tax: 2020-2024

OPERATING INCOME 

For the financial year 2024, Bank of Montserrat 
Limited reported an operating income of $19.7 
million, reflecting a robust increase of $2.8 million 
(or 16.6%) compared to the previous year. This 
growth highlights the bank’s strategic focus 

on revenue enhancement and effective asset 
management, driven primarily by the expansion 
of income generated from the investment 
portfolio. This positive outcome underscores the 
success of the bank’s investment strategies and 
the optimization of yield opportunities.

A significant contributor to the improved 
operating income was net interest income, which 
totaled $13.6 million for the period. This represents 
a substantial increase of $2.3 million or 20.0% 
compared to the prior year, demonstrating the 
bank’s ability to capitalize on favorable interest 
rate conditions and maintain a strategic position 
within the interest-earning asset segment. 
Notably, net interest income accounted for 69.2% 
of total operating income, reaffirming the central 
role of interest-bearing assets in the bank’s 
revenue generation.

INTEREST INCOME 

For the 2024 financial year, total interest income 
amounted to $18million, marking an increase 
of $2.4 million, or 15.5%, compared to the prior 
year. This growth was primarily attributed to 
a $1.8 million or 19.0% increase in income from 
investment securities, supported by an additional 
$571,283 or 9.4% generated from loans and 
advances. Investment securities continued to 
serve as the dominant source of interest income, 
contributing 62.5% of the total, while loans and 
advances accounted for 36.9%.

Despite persistent market volatility—driven by 
geopolitical tensions, electoral uncertainties, 
shifting monetary policies, and inflationary 
pressures—the Bank’s investment portfolio 
demonstrated strong resilience. Through strategic 
positioning, the Bank capitalized on favorable 
interest rate conditions within its debt investment 
holdings, resulting in an increase in the weighted 
average effective interest rate on debt securities 
to 4.41%, up from 3.66% in 2023. This disciplined 
asset management approach significantly 
supported the overall increase in interest income 
and underscored the Bank’s agility in navigating 
a challenging macroeconomic environment.

The modest growth in interest income from loans 
and advances was largely driven by the Bank’s 
strategic involvement in syndicated corporate 
lending, complemented by a measured expansion 
in the demand loan and overdraft portfolios. While 
this segment continues to represent a smaller 
portion of total interest income, the average 
effective interest rate rose to 6.27% in 2024 from 
5.76% in the prior year. 

NET PROFITS BEFORE TAX

2020 2021
Restated

2022 2023 2024

3,827

261 -1,498

6,857
6,375
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This improvement in yield reflects the increased 
utilization of short-term credit facilities 
by customers at higher prevailing rates, 
demonstrating the Bank’s capacity to enhance 
income through prudent lending practices and 
targeted deployment of credit.

Sources of Interest Income: 2022 - 2024

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense for the financial year 2024 rose 
modestly by $152,397, or 3.6%, to $4.40 million, 
compared to an increase of $87,644 (or 2.1%) in 
the previous year. This subdued growth occurred 
despite a notable $18.52 million increase in total 
customer deposits, underscoring the Bank’s 
prudent approach to cost of funds management.

The relatively flat movement in interest expense 
reflects a favourable shift in the deposit mix, 
particularly the growth in lower-cost corporate 
demand deposits. This is further supported by a 
decline in the weighted average effective interest 
rate on deposit liabilities, which fell from 1.22% in 
2023 to 1.17% in 2024.

The graph below  displays the interest expense for 
the five-year period 2020 to 2024.

Interest Expense

NON-INTEREST INCOME
Non-interest income amounted to $6.1 million for 
the financial year 2024, representing an increase of 
$532,070 (or 9.6%) over the $5.5 million recorded in 
2023. This growth was mainly supported by an uplift 
in service fees and commission income, reflecting 
increased customer engagement and broader 
utilization of the bank’s digital and transactional 
service channels.

However, despite the nominal improvement, non-
interest income as a percentage of total income 
declined modestly to 25.21% in 2024, compared to 
26.21% in the previous year. This relative decline in 
contribution was driven by the faster expansion 
of interest income, which grew at a higher rate, 
thereby diluting the share of non-interest income 
in the overall revenue mix.

The graph below illustrates the sources of non-
interest income:

Sources of Non Interest Income

OPERATING EXPENSES

Total operating expenses increased by $1.7 million, 
or 18.1%, rising from $9.6 million in the 2023 financial 
year to $11.3 million in 2024. This increase was 
primarily driven by the strategic full acquisition 
of the Bank’s credit card portfolio from 4Cs. The 
associated rise in costs was largely due to credit 
card processing and network fees, which totaled 
$851,816.

Despite the increase in operating expenses, the 
Bank’s operating efficiency ratio improved slightly, 
moving from 65.53% in financial year 2023 to 63.79% 
in financial year 2024. This improvement reflects 
enhanced operational efficiency and a positive 
return on strategic investments, as revenue growth 
from core business lines more than offset the rise 
in expenditure.

SOURCES OF INTEREST INCOME
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SOURCES OF NON-INTEREST INCOME

Service Fees
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Foreign Exchange
Gains-Net

Miscellaneous

2023
2024

2,711,454
2,918,482
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100,671 70,940
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INTEREST EXPENSE

2020 2021
Restated
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2,504
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4,247

4,399

4,159
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FINANCIAL POSITION
TOTAL ASSETS 

Total assets increased by 13.4%, reaching $474.6 
million at the end of the 2024 financial year, 
compared to $418.4 million in 2023. The most 
notable growth was observed in investment 
securities, which rose by $49.51 million or 26.6%. 
This expansion reflects the Bank’s strategic 
redeployment of surplus liquidity into interest-
bearing instruments to optimize returns and 
strengthen the investment portfolio.

Loans and advances—the Bank’s second-largest 
asset class—increased by $6.7 million or 6.9%, 
driven by targeted lending initiatives designed to 
stimulate economic activity in Montserrat. These 
efforts were primarily focused on supporting 
corporate financing needs and working capital 
requirements.

Additionally, other assets grew by $20.9 million 
or 261.5%, largely attributable to the expansion 
in credit card receivables following the full 
acquisition of the credit portfolio. This growth 
underscores the Bank’s evolving role in consumer 
and commercial credit markets.

The graph below displays the movement in the 
Bank’s total assets over the last five years.

Total Assets: 2020 - 2024

LOANS AND ADVANCES

Total loans and advances grew by $6.7 million, or 
6.9%, reaching $104.6 million as of 2024, compared 
to $97.9 million in 2023. This growth was primarily 
attributable to increased disbursements in the 
demand loans and overdraft portfolios, reflecting 
heightened credit uptake among key customer 
segments. The expansion also highlights stronger 
demand for short-term financing and working 
capital facilities, particularly from corporate 

clients, indicating a rebound in business activity 
and improved economic sentiment.

Non-performing loans (NPLs) increased by 
$520,665, or 9.17%, over the year. This rise was 
mainly driven by the credit card portfolio, which 
grew by $332,716, or 21.68%, and contributed 
significantly to the overall deterioration in asset 
quality. Consequently, the NPL ratio rose slightly 
from 5.48% in 2023 to 5.57% in 2024, surpassing 
the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank’s (ECCB) 
prudential benchmark of 5.0%.

 Total Loans and Advances: 2020 – 2024

INVESTMENT SECURITIES 

The Bank’s total investment portfolio expanded 
by 26.6%, increasing from $185.9 million in 2023 to 
$235.4 million in 2024. This growth was primarily 
driven by a $52.4 million or 47.5% surge in balances 
held in debt investments measured at amortized 
cost, reflecting the Bank’s strategic reallocation of 
surplus liquidity into stable, income-generating 
assets.

In contrast, equity investments measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI) declined by $1.6 million or 1.7% compared 
to the previous year. This contraction was largely 
influenced by heightened market volatility, which 
impacted valuations across equity markets.

Despite these headwinds, the Bank intentionally 
increased its allocation to debt instruments, 
underscoring a prudent and proactive investment 
strategy. This approach is aligned with the Bank’s 
core investment objectives—prioritizing safety 
and diversification, maintaining liquidity, and 
optimizing returns.

TOTAL ASSETS

2020 2021
Restated

2022 2023 2024

239,364

426,019 418,404

474,620

410,078

LOANS & ADVANCES (NET)

2020 2021
Restated

2022 2023 2024

95,383
100,694 97,850

104,590

93,021
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CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

Customer deposits maintained a stable upward 
trajectory in the 2024 financial year, increasing by 
$18.5 million, or 5.0%, to $386.0 million, compared 
to $367.5 million in financial year 2023. This growth 
was broad-based, with increases across most 
deposit categories in both the retail and corporate 
segments with the exception of corporate time 
deposits.

Retail deposits rose by $3.54 million or 1.54%, 
accounting for 60.58% of total deposits. While the 
overall growth in retail deposit types was marginal, 
it reflected continued customer confidence 
and the Bank’s ability to attract and retain core 
funding. The corporate deposit segment was the 
primary driver of overall deposit growth, increasing 
by $14.98 million, or 10.92%, led predominantly by a 
$14.12 million (or 11.44%) rise in demand deposits.

In terms of cost of funds, the weighted average 
effective interest rate on deposit liabilities 
improved, declining from 1.22% in 2023 to 1.17% in 
2024, signaling improved efficiency in managing 
interest expenses.

Overall, the favourable deposit mix not only 
enhanced the Bank’s liquidity position but also 
strengthened its capacity to support lending and 
investment activities, while contributing to financial 
stability and optimized funding costs.

Customer Deposits: 2020 -2024

CAPITAL
The Bank of Montserrat Limited delivered a strong 
capital performance in the financial year 2024, with 
total shareholders’ equity increasing by 31.8%, rising 
from $35.0 million in 2023 to $46.2 million at year-
end. This robust growth was largely underpinned 
by solid net profit generation and strategic capital 
management.

In line with regulatory requirements, 20.0% of net 
profit was allocated to the statutory reserve, while 
the remainder was retained to support future 
growth. 

The quality of shareholders’ equity was further 
enhanced by $7.9 million in fair value gains on 
equity investments classified under Fair Value 
Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)—
reflecting improvement in market prices year-on-
year relative to original purchase prices.

As a result of these combined efforts, the Capital 
Adequacy Ratio (CAR) improved markedly from 
19.9% in financial year 2023 to 24.7% in financial 
year 2024, remaining well above the regulatory 
threshold of 8%. This underscores the Bank’s sound 
risk management framework and its capacity to 
absorb potential shocks while continuing to fund 
economic development.

The Bank’s Book Value per Share rose meaningfully 
from $5.85 to $7.72 as of September 30, 2024, 
signaling enhanced shareholder value and 
reinforcing investor confidence in the Bank’s 
strategic direction.

CONCLUSION
In 2024, Bank of Montserrat Limited delivered a 
strong financial performance, demonstrating 
notable resilience amid a challenging economic 
environment. While net profit experienced a 
modest decline due to an expansion in non-
interest expenses and increased credit impairment 
provisions—a reflection of our proactive risk 
management, the Bank registered robust growth 
across key financial indicators, reinforcing the 
strength of its business model and strategic 
execution.

Overall, we sustained profitability, fortified our 
balance sheet, and enhanced operational 
efficiency, showcasing sound governance and 
adaptability in a dynamic landscape. Looking 
ahead, Bank of Montserrat remains committed to 
responsible banking, prudent growth, and playing 
a pivotal role in Montserrat’s long-term socio-
economic development.

Chesley M. A. Antoine 
General Manager (Ag) 

TOTAL DEPOSITS

2020 2021
Restated

2022 2023 2024

191,648

377,250
367,516

386,031376,547



36

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Bank of Montserrat Limited (the “Bank”) conducts 
robust engagement with the communities 
it serves, empowering and uplifting people 
through its social programmes.  The Bank’s social 
programmes seek to enrich lives through five 
areas, health and wellness, education, culture, 
community support & development and sports.  

Health and Wellness
The Bank remains resolute in championing 
health and wellness to engender societal well-
being, a stronger economy and a more fulfilling 
community life.  During the 2024 financial year, 
the Bank contributed to the following:   

•	 Pink Ribbon Charity to assist in preventative 
care for breast cancer.  

Education
Bank of Montserrat supports education to foster a 
more resilient society that empowers individuals 
to elevate themselves and live their best 
lives.  During 2024, the Bank supported several 
educational initiatives including the following: 

•	 Donations were made to schools across 
the island in support of their graduation 
ceremonies which celebrated the academic 
excellence of their students.

•	 The Bank contributed to the Science Fair 
of a primary school and partnered with a 
secondary school to purchase a drum set for 
its music programme.

•	 A donation was made to a local community 
group to deliver their summer school.

•	 The Bank collaborated with the Montserrat 
Public Library to present its reading 
programme.

•	 Contributions were made to various children’s 
day cares, nursery schools and primary 
schools on the island in their endeavour to 
develop future community leaders.  

•	 We continued our commitment to the 
funding of the DRV (Frank) Edwards Memorial 
Scholarship, which provides funding for a 
student to attend the University of the West 
Indies (UWI) to pursue a field of study in 
banking or related areas.

•	 A donation was made to support the annual 
financial literacy programme through the 
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank’s (ECCB) 
Financial Information Month activities.

Culture
As part of our good corporate citizen strategy, 
we supported several initiatives geared towards 
promoting our cultural heritage.  These initiatives 
included:

•	 Montserrat Arts Council’s – Annual Christmas 
Carnival.

•	 Davy Hill Day 2023

•	 Salem Day 2023

•	 Montserrat Arts Council’s play production.

•	 Cecil Lake Enterprises Junior Gospel Concert

•	 Matrixx Dance Company Production.

•	 Panstrat’s Nite of Pan

Community Support & Development 
Bank of Montserrat believes that connecting 
with its stakeholder communities is pivotal to 
building trust, fostering community growth 
and finding impactful solutions to uplift its 
customers.   Accordingly, the Bank contributed to 
several endeavours geared towards community 
improvement:

•	 Donation to the Rotary Club of Montserrat 
Santa Around the Island.

•	 Support for the Interact Club of Montserrat.

•	 Donation to the Montserrat Red Cross Society. 

•	 Olde School Ball held to raise funds for the 
Meals on Wheels Programme. 

•	 Platinum sponsor of the Montserrat PRIME 
Expo which is geared towards the promotion 
of entrepreneurship and innovation.  The 
funds were used to support the participation 
of small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs) in the PRIME Expo.

Social Responsibility & 
Community Engagement
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Sports
We embrace the philosophy that sports programmes are vital for communities’ 
health and quality of life.  To this end, Bank of Montserrat supported the following 
sports events and initiatives: 

•	 VIP Media Father’s Day Football Tournament. 

•	 Montserrat Secondary School’s Basketball League.

•	 Sponsorship of the Sports Day for schools across the island.

•	 Montserrat Basketball Amateur Association’s Basketball Invitational.  

•	 Montserrat Netball Association participation in the OECS Netball Tournament.

•	 Each One Teach One Basketball Programme. 

Conclusion
During the 2024 financial year, we contributed over sixty thousand dollars in 
support of our commitment to strengthen our communities.  As we continue 
to contribute to shaping a better Montserrat for future generations, Bank of 
Montserrat will remain an agent of impactful community enhancement built on 
trust, integrity and accountability. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of the Bank of Montserrat Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the Bank of Montserrat Limited (the “Bank”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at September 30, 2024, and the statement of 
income, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of material accounting policy information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Bank as at September 30, 2024, and its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the provisions of the Banking Act of 
Montserrat No. 15 of 2015 and its Amendments (the “Act”). 

Basis for Opinion   

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISA”).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Bank in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in Montserrat, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.  We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our 
audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risk 
of material misstatement of the financial statements.  The results of our audit procedures, 
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis of our audit 
opinion on the accompanying financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
To the Shareholders of the Bank of Montserrat Limited 

Key Audit Matters (cont’d) 

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters 

IFRS 9 Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”)  

Refer to Notes 2 d (ii), 7, 8, 9 and 23 to the 
financial statements 
 
The Bank recognizes Expected Credit Losses 
(”ECL”) on financial assets, the determination of 
which is highly subjective and requires 
management to make significant judgement and 
estimates.  
 
The key areas requiring a greater level of 
judgement by management and therefore 
increased audit focus include the identification of 
significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) and 
the application of forward-looking information.  
 
The identification of significant increase in credit 
risk is a key area of judgement as these criteria 
determine whether a 12 month or lifetime 
provision is recorded (i.e. the Stage allocation 
process).  
 
IFRS 9 requires the Bank to measure expected 
credit losses on a forward-looking basis 
reflecting a range of future economic conditions. 
Significant management judgement is used in 
determining the economic scenarios and 
management overlay. 
 
For the Bank’s loans and advances in Stages 1 
and 2 (i.e. Stage 1 - loans which had not 
experienced a significant increase in credit risk 
since origination and; Stage 2 - those that had 
experienced such), the allowance is determined 
on a collective basis with the use of impairment 
models. These models use a number of key 
assumptions including probability of default, loss 
given default and valuation of recoveries. 
 
Management also apply overlays where they 
believe the model calculated assumptions and 
allowances require refinement due to historical 
trends or due to the model limitations.  

General  
 
 

We evaluated management’s process and reviewed 
key activities around the determination of the ECL 
allowance including: 
 
-      Appropriateness of modeling methodology; 
-      Model approval;  
-      The identification of credit impairment events;          

and  
-      The review and approval of the ECL 

allowance, including the impairment model 
outputs, key management judgments and 
overlays applied.   

Stage 1 and Stage 2 loans and advances to 
customers 

•    Obtained an understanding of the impairment 
model used by management for the calculation 
of the ECL.  

• Tested the completeness and accuracy of the 
key data inputs used in the model to the 
underlying accounting records. 
 

• Evaluated the reasonableness of the Bank’s 
ECL estimates based on the underlying ECL 
models produced by the Bank. As part of this, 
we reviewed the methodologies and 
assumptions employed within the models for 
reasonableness.   

 
• We also reviewed the derivation and 

assumptions selected for probability of 
default, loss given default and the exposure 
at default. Additionally, we considered the 
appropriateness of using a management’s 
overlay approach in lieu of a regression model 
based on the statistical credibility results 
provided. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
To the Shareholders of the Bank of Montserrat Limited 

Key Audit Matters (cont’d) 

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit 
Matters 

IFRS 9 Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”) (cont’d) 
 
For the Bank’s loans and advances in Stage 3 (i.e. 
credit impaired facilities) expected credit losses are 
estimated on an individual basis. Specific criteria 
have been developed to identify loans that have 
become credit impaired. However, judgement is 
exercised to determine whether any additional loans 
are exhibiting specific characteristics that would 
lead to such classification. The Bank then estimates 
the expected future cash flows related to those 
loans.  
 
We have therefore determined that the impairment 
of these loans and advances has a high degree of 
estimation uncertainty.  

Stage 3 loans and advances to customers 
 
•      We critically assessed the criteria for 

determining whether a credit impairment 
event had occurred. This involved reviewing 
a sample of loan facilities in Stages 1 and 2 
for indicators of a credit impairment event 
based on determined risk characteristics.  

 
• We assessed the adequacy of the impairment 

allowance for loans and advances by testing 
the key assumptions used in the Bank’s ECL 
calculations including forecasts of future cash 
flows and timing of such.  

 
•      We reviewed third party valuations of the 

underlying collateral security supporting a 
sample of loans and advances.  

 
•      We also considered the current market 

conditions and compared these against the 
Bank’s historical experience of the 
realization of security and actual collection of 
cash flows.  

 
• We re-performed management’s allowance   

calculation.  
Financial statement disclosures  
• Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures 

of the key assumptions and judgements for 
compliance with the standard. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
To the Shareholders of the Bank of Montserrat Limited 

Key Audit Matters (cont’d) 

 
Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit 

Matters 

Fair values of investment securities  
Refer to Notes 4(b), 5 and 7 to the financial 
statements 

Financial statement disclosures (cont’d) 

The Bank invests in various investment 
securities for which no published prices in active 
markets are available and have been classified 
as Level 2 assets within the IFRS Accounting 
Standard fair value hierarchy. 
 
Valuation techniques for these investments can 
be subjective in nature and involve various 
assumptions regarding pricing factors.  
 
Associated risk management disclosure is 
complex and dependent on high quality data. A 
specific area of audit focus includes the 
valuation of fair value Level 2 assets.  
 
These techniques include the use of recent 
arm’s length transactions, reference to other 
instruments that are substantially the same and 
discounted cash flow analyses making 
maximum use of market inputs, such as the 
market risk free yield curve. 

We reviewed the reasonableness of the methods 
and assumptions used in determining the fair 
value of investment securities.  We considered 
whether the methodology remains appropriate 
given the current market conditions.  
 
We independently assessed the fair values of 
investments by performing independent valuations 
on the investment portfolio as well as recalculating 
the unrealized gain or loss.  
 
We assessed whether the financial statements 
disclosures, including sensitivity to key inputs and 
the IFRS Accounting Standard fair value 
hierarchy, appropriately reflect the Bank’s 
exposure to financial instruments valuation risk. 
We also reviewed management’s assessments of 
whether there are any indicators of impairment 
including those securities that are not actively 
traded. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
To the Shareholders of the Bank of Montserrat Limited 

Key Audit Matters (cont’d) 

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit 
Matters 

RBC Intangible Assets impairment 
assessment Refer to Note 14 to the financial 
statements 
 

 

The Bank has core deposit intangibles (CDI) of 
$5.1 million. Impairment assessment of the CDI 
is very subjective as it requires the use of 
projected financial information and judgmental 
assumptions.  
 
As required by IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, 
management performs an annual impairment 
assessment on the CDI. Management 
conducted the impairment tests using sensitivity 
analyses, including a range of growth rates, 
interest rates, recovery assumptions, macro-
economic outlooks and discount rates for each 
entity in arriving at a probability-weighted 
expected cash flow projection. 
  
The purpose of the impairment review is to 
ensure that the CDI is not carried at an amount 
greater than its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is compared with the 
carrying value of the asset to determine if the 
asset is impaired. 
Recoverable amount is defined as the higher of 
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, 
the underlying concept being that an asset 
should not be carried at more than the amount it 
could raise, either from selling it now or from 
using it.  

We evaluated and tested the Bank's process for 
CDI impairment assessment. 
 
We involved our PKF valuation specialists to 
assist us in the review of the key assumptions, 
cashflows and discount rate used to ensure that 
they are reasonable. 
We also assessed whether appropriate and 
complete disclosures have been included in the 
financial statements consistent with the 
requirements of IAS 36. 

 

 

Other information   

Other information consists of the information included in the Bank’s 2024 Annual Report, other 
than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the 
other information.  The Bank’s 2024 Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after 
the date of this auditor’s report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
To the Shareholders of the Bank of Montserrat Limited 

Other information (cont’d) 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.   
 
When we read the Bank’s 2024 Annual Report, if we conclude that it contains a material 
misstatement, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and the Audit Committee for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the  
 
Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.    

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion.   
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
To the Shareholders of the Bank of Montserrat Limited 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.   

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Richard 
Surage. 
 
 
 
 

Chartered Accountants 
Castries, Saint Lucia 
February 19, 2025 
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2024 2023

Notes $ $

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank 6       90,476,063     110,834,293 
Investment securities 7     235,417,864     185,909,984 
Loans and advances to customers 8     104,590,854       97,850,304 
Accrued interest receivable 9         1,964,913         1,821,570 
Deferred tax asset 10         2,720,785         2,883,272 
Property and equipment 12         6,239,695         6,237,233 
Intangible assets 13            187,066            249,859 
RBC intangible assets 14         4,106,160         4,619,430 
Other assets 15       28,917,317         7,998,150 

Total assets     474,620,717     418,404,095 

Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Deposit liabilities 17     386,031,823     367,515,988 
Pension plan liabilities 11         1,054,412         1,012,516 
Dividends payable 18         3,159,581            850,435 
Interest payable            118,975            122,998 
Other liabilities 20       37,269,543       12,874,018 
Withholding tax payable            105,518              94,117 
Income tax payable            678,337            899,873 

Total liabilities     428,418,189     383,369,945 

Equity
Share capital 21       20,206,770       20,206,517 
Statutory reserve 22       15,818,668       13,118,159 
Fair value reserve       (5,287,309)     (13,201,451)
Appropriated retained earnings - pension reserve 11       (1,054,412)       (1,012,516)
Un-appropriated retained earnings       16,518,811       15,923,441 

Total equity       46,202,528       35,034,150 

Total liabilities and equity     474,620,717     418,404,095 

 
 
 
 

Mr. Dalton A. Lee Mrs. Venita Cabey
Chair - Board of Directors Chair - Audit Committee
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2024 2023

Notes $ $
Interest income
Investment securities     11,253,264       9,440,472 
Loans and advances to customers       6,640,158       6,068,875 
Cash and cash equivalents          102,582            70,996 

    17,996,004     15,580,343 
Interest expense
Deposit liabilities
Savings     (4,074,235)     (3,972,112)
Time        (324,916)        (274,642)

    (4,399,151)     (4,246,754)

Net interest income     13,596,853     11,333,589 

Other income
Service fees and commissions       3,284,173       2,515,344 
Foreign exchange gains - net       2,711,454       2,918,482 
Miscellaneous            70,940          100,671 

      6,066,567       5,534,497 

Operating income     19,663,420     16,868,086 

Operating expenses
Salaries and other benefits 24     (3,386,005)     (3,367,044)
Other operating expenses 25     (3,926,683)     (3,174,279)
Occupancy and equipment - related expenses 26     (2,642,851)     (2,294,487)
Taxes, licences and professional fees     (1,365,671)        (754,743)

  (11,321,210)     (9,590,553)

Net operating income before impairment       8,342,210       7,277,533 

Recovery of allowance for impairment losses 23            72,015       1,134,635 
Impairment losses during the year 23          (24,812)     (1,549,038)
Write-off of allowance for impairment losses     (2,014,062)            (5,455)

Impairment losses on financial assets     (1,966,859)        (419,858)

Net income before tax       6,375,351       6,857,675 

Income and deferred taxation 10        (843,916)     (1,081,458)

Net income for the year       5,531,435       5,776,217 

Net income attributable to the shareholders       5,531,435       5,776,217 
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2024 2023

Notes $ $

Net income for the year        5,531,435        5,776,217 

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be classified to profit or loss:
Re-measurement gains/(losses) on net defined benefit obligations 11             77,628         (192,932)
Fair value gains on equity instruments at FVOCI        7,893,483        1,533,417 

       7,971,111        1,340,485 

Total comprehensive income for the year      13,502,546        7,116,702 

Book value per share 29                 7.72                 5.85 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 30                 0.92  0.97 
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2024 2023

Notes $ $

Share capital 
Balance - beginning of the year     20,206,517     20,063,898 
Issuance of shares: Share rights exercised                 253          142,619 

Balance - end of the year 21 20,206,770 20,206,517

Statutory reserve
Balance - beginning of the year     13,118,159     11,694,819 
Transfer from un-appropriated retained earnings       2,700,509       1,423,340 

Balance - end of the year 22 15,818,668 13,118,159

Fair value reserve - FVOCI - Equity investments
Balance - beginning of the year   (13,201,451)   (14,035,631)
Fair value gains on equity investments at FVOCI       7,914,142          834,180 

Balance - end of the year     (5,287,309)   (13,201,451)

Appropriated retained earnings - Loan loss reserve
Balance - beginning of the year                     -          311,762 
Transfer to un-appropriated retained earnings                     -        (311,762)

Balance - end of the year 23                     -                     - 

Appropriated retained earnings - Pension reserve
Balance - beginning of the year     (1,012,516)        (732,992)
Transfer to un-appropriated retained earnings          (41,896)        (279,524)

Balance - end of the year 11     (1,054,412)     (1,012,516)

Un-appropriated retained earnings
Balance - beginning of the year     15,923,441     10,472,973 
Total comprehensive income for the year     13,502,546       7,116,702 
Fair value gains on equity investments at FVOCI reserve 7     (7,914,142)        (834,180)Transfer from appropriated retained earnings - pension 
reserve            41,896          279,524 
Transfer from loan loss reserve 23                     -          311,762 
Dividends declared during the  year 18     (2,334,421)                     - 
Transfer to statutory reserve 22     (2,700,509)     (1,423,340)

Balance - end the year     16,518,811     15,923,441 

Total equity     46,202,528     35,034,150 
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2024 2023

Notes $ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income before tax         6,375,351         6,857,675 
Adjustments for:
Interest income     (17,996,004)     (15,580,343)
Interest expense         4,399,151         4,246,754 
Impairment losses 23         2,014,062         1,549,038 
Depreciation and amortization 12, 13, 14            956,370            990,442 
Write-off of allowance for impairment losses              24,812               5,455 
Recovery of allowance for impairment losses 23                       -          (741,035)

Cash flows before changes in operating assets and liabilities       (4,226,258)       (2,672,014)

(Increase)/decrease in mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank       (1,411,895)       21,065,897 
(Increase)/decrease in loans and advances to customers       (7,784,027)       (4,829,464)
Increase in pension plan obligations              41,896            279,524 
Increase in other assets     (20,919,167)       (5,372,728)
Increase/(decrease) in deposit liabilities       18,515,835       (9,031,102)
Increase in other liabilities       24,395,525         9,446,302 
Increase/(decrease) in withholding taxes payable              11,401          (341,821)

Cash generated from operations         8,623,310         8,544,594 

Interest income received       17,850,505       15,392,800 
Interest expenses paid       (4,403,174)       (4,240,616)
Income taxes paid          (902,965)            (45,106)

Net cash generated from operating activities       21,167,676       19,651,672 

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment securities, net     (42,530,010)       (5,107,439)
Purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets 12, 13          (382,769)          (273,877)

Net cash used in investing activities     (42,912,779)       (5,381,316)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of shares 21                  253            142,619 
Dividends paid 18            (25,275)          (146,775)

Net cash used in financing activities            (25,022)              (4,156)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents     (21,770,125)       14,266,200 

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of the year 6       89,806,367       75,540,167 

Cash and cash equivalents - end of the year 6       68,036,242       89,806,367 
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1. Reporting entity  
The Bank of Montserrat Limited (the “Bank”) was incorporated on February 22, 1988 under 
Chapter 308 of the Companies Act as amended by the laws of the British Overseas 
territory of Montserrat. The Bank was granted a category “A” licence under Section 5 of 
the Banking Ordinance 1978 No. 14 of 1978 by the Ministry of Finance in the British 
Overseas territory of Montserrat on February 23, 1988.  
The Bank is subject to the provisions of the Banking Act 2015 of Montserrat No. 15 of 
2015, which came into effect on March 1, 2016, the Bank Interest Levy Act and its 
amendments. It is also regulated by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (“ECCB”/”Central 
Bank”).  
The Bank commenced operations on May 1, 1988, and provides commercial and retail 
banking services, including the acceptance of deposits, granting of loans and advances, 
credit and debit cards, foreign exchange services, online and mobile banking services. 
The Bank’s registered office and principal place of business is located at Brades, 
Montserrat, West Indies.  
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue 
on February 19, 2025. 

2. Summary of material accounting policies 
(a) Overall policy 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all 
years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

Basis of preparation 
The financial statements of the Bank of Montserrat Limited have been prepared 
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and under the historical cost convention, 
except for: 

• Equity investments which have been designated at fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income (“FVOCI”); and  
 

• Pension plan assets which are measured at the fair value of plan assets 
less the present value of the defined benefit obligation. 

Foreign currency translation 
Functional and presentation currency 
Items in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional 
currency”). These statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars (“EC$”), 
which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency. 
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d) 
(a)  Overall policy (cont’d) 

Foreign currency translation (cont’d) 
Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions that require settlement in a foreign currency are 
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than EC$ are 
translated to EC$ at rates of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than EC$ are 
translated to EC$ at rates of exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction.  

(b) Uses of estimates and judgments 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting 
Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Bank’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.  
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized prospectively and in any future 
periods affected.  

(c) New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations 
New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations effective in 
the 2024 financial year: 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations were 
effective in the current period, however none of them had an impact on the Bank’s 
financial statements. 

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that are 
issued but not effective and have not been early adopted: 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations were 
issued and early adoption is permitted, however, the Bank has not early adopted 
these new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations in the 
preparation of these financial statements. None of these are expected to have a 
significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements. 
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d) 
(d) Financial assets and liabilities 

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition 

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances to customers, deposit liabilities 
and investment securities on the date they are originated. All other financial assets 
and financial liabilities are initially recognized on the trade date when the entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. The Bank 
derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive contractual cash flows in a 
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such derecognized financial assets 
that is created or retained by the Bank is recognized as an asset or liability. 
Financial assets that are transferred to a third party but do not qualify for 
derecognition are presented in the statement of financial position as “Assets 
pledged as collateral”, if the transferee has the right to sell or re-pledge them. On 
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of 
the asset and the consideration received is recognized in the statement of income. 

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged, or cancelled, or when they expire. 

  Financial assets  
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement  

In determining the classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets, the Bank assesses the business model in which these assets are 
held and the contractual cash flows of the assets as outlined below:  

Business model assessment 

The business model reflects how the Bank manages these assets in order 
to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Bank’s objective is solely to 
collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the 
contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of these assets. 
If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading 
purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of ‘other’ 
business model and measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”).  
Factors considered by the Bank in determining the business model within 
which the assets are held include past experience on how the cash flows 
for these assets were collected, how the assets’ performance is evaluated 
and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and 
managed and how managers are compensated. 
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d)  
(d) Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d) 

  Financial assets (cont’d) 
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d) 

Contractual cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest:- SPPI 
assessment 

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 
flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, the Bank assesses 
whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest (the “SPPI” test). In making this assessment, the 
Bank considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a 
basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the 
time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit 
margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement.  

After performing the above assessments, the Bank then determines if a 
financial asset is held at amortized cost or FVOCI. 

 Amortized cost 

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those 
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”), and 
that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortized cost. The 
carrying amount of these financial assets is adjusted by any expected credit 
loss allowance recognized. Interest income from these financial assets is 
included in ‘Interest income’ using the effective interest rate method. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset. The calculation does not 
consider ECL and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and 
fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest 
rate, such as origination fees.  

Per assessment, all of the Bank’s treasury bonds, government bonds, fixed 
deposits, corporate bonds and loans and advances to customers have 
cash flows which represent solely payment of principal and interest, hence 
are measured at amortized cost. 

Fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) 

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt 
investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL and is not part of a 
hedging relationship is recognized in profit or loss. Interest income from 
these financial assets is included in ‘Interest income’ using the effective 
interest rate method.  

The Bank does not have any financial assets that are measured at FVPL. 
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d)  
(d) Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d) 

  Financial assets (cont’d) 
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (cont’d) 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) 

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and 
for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, 
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amounts are taken 
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, 
interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the 
instrument’s amortized cost which are recognized in profit or loss. When 
these financial assets are derecognized, the cumulative gains or losses 
previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity and recognized in 
income. Interest income from these financial assets are included in ‘Interest 
income’ using the effective interest rate method.   
The Bank does not have any debt instruments measured at FVOCI. 
 
Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI” - Equity) 

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from 
the issuer’s perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a 
contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the 
issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments include preference and 
basic ordinary shares. 

FVOCI-equity classification involves only investments in equity instruments 
and is purely an elective classification. IFRS 9 states that an entity may 
elect to classify a financial asset as fair value through other comprehensive 
income for equity instruments (“FVOCI – equity”) if it is an investment in an 
equity instrument that is not held for trading.  The subsequent 
measurement of an investment in equity instruments at FVOCI - equity 
involves measuring the asset at fair value at each subsequent reporting 
date and recognising the related fair value gains or losses in OCI. Any 
dividend income that may be earned is recognized in profit and loss. When 
the equity instrument is eventually sold, the fair value gains or losses 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income may never be 
reclassified to income. They can only be reclassified to retained earnings 
as a movement within equity.  

The Bank has a portfolio of equity instruments which are not held for 
trading. The Bank’s management elected to measure all its equity 
instruments through FVOCI.  
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d)  
(d) Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d) 

  Financial assets (cont’d) 
(ii) Impairment of financial assets 
 Measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL”)  

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are 
measured as follows: 

• Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: 
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference 
between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the 
contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive); 

• Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as 
the difference between the gross carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows; 

• Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference 
between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Bank if the 
commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Bank 
expects to receive. 

Credit impaired financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried 
at amortized cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ 
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.  

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following 
observable data: 

• Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
• A breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 
• The restructuring of a debt instrument by the Bank on terms that the 

Bank would not consider otherwise; 
• It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or 

other financial reorganization; or 
• A debt instrument that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration 

in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to be credit-
impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving 
contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no 
other indicators of impairment.  
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d)  
(d) Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d) 

  Financial assets (cont’d) 
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (cont’d) 

Calculation of ECL  

The Bank uses the probability of default method when calculating expected 
credit losses. The ECL is based on credit losses that are expected to arise 
over the life of the asset, referred to as the lifetime ECL, unless there has 
not been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case 
a 12-month expected credit loss (12-month ECL) is measured.  

The lifetime ECL is the expected credit losses that result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. Lifetime 
expected credit losses are calculated based on a weighted average of the 
expected losses with the weightings being based on the respective 
probabilities of default (“PD”) and loss given default (“LGD”).  PD and LGD 
are therefore calculated over the life of the instrument. 

The 12-month ECL represents a financial assets’ expected losses that are 
expected to arise from default events that are possible within the 12-month 
period following origination of the instrument or from each reporting date 
for those assets in stage 1. It is calculated by multiplying the probability of 
default occurring in the next 12 months by the lifetime ECLs that would 
result from that default, regardless of when those losses occur.  

The ECL is calculated on an individual account basis but for purposes of 
determining PD and exposure at default (“EAD”), financial assets are 
grouped according to common characteristics. 

Impairment is assessed at each reporting period. IFRS 9 establishes a 
three-stage impairment model based on whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk of a financial asset since its initial 
recognition. The three stages then determine the amount of impairment to 
be recognized as ECL at each reporting date as well as the amount of 
interest revenue to be recorded. 

The Bank makes a determination as to whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition by considering the 
deterioration in internal ratings and payment delinquencies. For purposes 
of calculating ECL the Bank classifies its financial assets into stages. The 
stages for loans and advances per IFRS 9 align with the Bank’s internal 
ratings system. Facilities with an internal rating of “Neither past due or 
impaired” are aligned to Stage 1. Facilities with an internal rating of “Past 
due but not impaired” are classified as Stage 2 and facilities with an internal 
rating of “Impaired” are classified as Stage 3.
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d)  
(d) Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d) 

  Financial assets (cont’d) 
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (cont’d) 

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk and credit - impaired 
financial assets  

The transition from recognizing 12-month expected credit losses (i.e. Stage 
1) to lifetime expected credit losses (i.e. Stage 2) is based on the notion of 
a significant increase in credit risk over the remaining life of the instrument 
in comparison with the credit risk on initial recognition. The focus is on the 
changes in the credit risk and not the changes in the amount of the ECL. 

The determination of whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk is therefore critical to the staging process. Factors to consider include: 

• Changes in market or general economic conditions;  
• Expectation of potential breaches;  
• Expected delays in payment;  
• Deterioration in credit ratings; or 
• Significant changes in operating results or financial position of the 

borrower.  

In making the determination of whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk, the Bank considers deterioration in its internal ratings 
as well as payment delinquencies. A significant increase in credit risk will 
exist when repayments are 30 days in arrears and/or when there has been 
a deterioration in the internal rating assigned.  

Credit-impaired financial assets are those for which one or more 
detrimental effects on the estimated future cash flows have already 
occurred. This is similar to the point at which an incurred loss would have 
been recognized under IAS 39. 

 Definition of default  

The definition of default is integral to the ECL model. The Bank’s definition 
of default is consistent with its internal risk management process and 
includes a qualitative creditworthiness criterion as well as a quantitative 
past due criterion. For loans and advances, default occurs when the 
borrower is more than 90 days past due on any obligation with the Bank 
and/or if the Bank considers that the borrower is unlikely to make their 
repayment in full without the Bank foreclosing on the loan facility. The Bank 
also uses its internal rating system to determine default. All loans and 
advances with a rating of “Impaired” are considered to be in default. The 
definition of default is applied consistently from one year to another and to 
all loans and advances unless it can be demonstrated that circumstances 
have changed such that a new definition is appropriate.  
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d)  
(d) Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d) 

  Financial assets (cont’d) 
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (cont’d) 
 ECL calculation methodology  

The Bank calculates ECL in a manner that reflects an unbiased and 
probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluation of a range of 
possible outcomes, the time value of money and reasonable and 
supportable information about past events, current conditions and 
forecasts of future economic conditions. The Bank applies a discounted 
probability-weighted estimate of the cash shortfalls expected to result from 
defaults over the relevant time horizon. The cash shortfall is the difference 
between the cash flows that are due according to the terms of the 
agreement and the cash flows it expects to collect over the relevant time 
period.  

The Bank calculates the probability-weighted average of ECL over different 
scenarios. Each scenario specifies forecasts of different economic 
conditions and these economic conditions are used to adjust default 
probabilities to incorporate this forward-looking information. 

The forward-looking information is incorporated through the use of 
regression formulae that translate the input economic information and uses 
this information to forecast default rates.  

The macroeconomic factors used by the Bank are: 

• Gross Domestic Product (local GDP);  
• Inflation; and  
• Local employment statistics. 

Three (3) variables are integral to the calculation of the ECL - the probability 
of default (“PD”), the exposure at default (“EAD”) and the loss given default 
(“LGD”). The product of these variables is adjusted for forward-looking 
information and discounted at the instrument’s original interest rate to arrive 
at the calculation of the ECL.  
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d)  
(d) Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d) 

  Financial assets (cont’d) 
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (cont’d) 
 ECL calculation methodology (cont’d) 

Probability of default – measures likelihood of default over a given period 
of time. In arriving at the probability of default the Bank first categorises 
facilities according to common characteristics and uses migration analysis 
to measure the percentage of loans as they move across the relevant 
stages. From this analysis marginal PDs for successive years are 
generated using a multiplication matrix.  

Loss given default - this is an estimate of the cash shortfall the Bank 
expects when a facility defaults at a point in time. For secured facilities the 
Bank considers the amount that may be realized from the sale of the 
collateral net of costs to sell. In the case of investment securities, the Bank 
utilised information from credit loss tables that are generated by reputable 
external agencies. 

Exposure at default - this is an estimate of the exposure at a default date 
that takes place in the future, taking into consideration repayments of 
principal or interest and interest charged. In arriving at EAD estimates, the 
Bank employs cash flow analyses.  

(iii) Loan commitments  
Loan commitments arise when an entity enters into a contract to provide a 
loan facility to another party. For loan commitments, credit loss estimates 
consider the portion of the commitment that is expected to be drawn over 
the relevant time period.  

At the end of each reporting period, 12-month expected credit losses are 
initially provided for such commitments. Where there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk of a default occurring on the loan to which the 
commitment relates, lifetime expected credit losses are recognized. For 
loan commitments, ECL is calculated as the difference between: 

• The contractual cash flows for amounts that are repayable if the 
holder of the loan commitment draws on the loan; and  

• The cash flows that the Bank expects to receive if the loan is drawn 
down.  

The discount rate used is the effective interest rate for the primary facility. 
In instances where there have been no drawdowns on the loan facility, the 
loss allowance is recognized and presented as a provision. 
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d)  
(d) Financial assets and liabilities (cont’d) 

  Financial assets (cont’d) 
(iv) Modification or restructuring of loans and advances  

The Bank sometimes modifies the terms of loans provided to customers 
due to commercial renegotiations, or for distressed loans, with a view to 
maximising recovery. 

Such restructuring activities include extended payment term arrangements, 
payment holidays and payment forgiveness. Restructuring policies and 
practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgment of 
management, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These 
policies are kept under continuous review.  

There were seventy-five (75) restructured loans and advances to 
customers as at September 30, 2024, (2023 - 69).  The Bank has never 
restructured any of its investment securities. 

  Financial liabilities  
  Classification and subsequent measurement 

In both the current and prior periods, financial liabilities are classified and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include 
cash on hand, non-restricted balances with the ECCB and highly liquid financial 
assets with maturity periods of less than three months from the date of acquisition, 
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their values. Cash is carried at 
amortized cost in the statement of financial position. 
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d)  
(f) Property and equipment 

Recognition and measurement 

Items of property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses, if any. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct 
labour and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 
condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items 
and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral 
to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of the equipment. 

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they 
are accounted for as items (major components) of property and equipment. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Gains and losses 
on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by comparing 
the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment 
and are recognized net in the statement of income. 

Subsequent expenditure 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognized in 
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its cost can be reliably measured.  
The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognized in 
expenses as incurred. 

Depreciation 

Deprecation is charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. The estimated useful 
lives for the current and comparative years are as follows: 

Building 50 years
Office and computer equipment 3 - 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Land is not depreciated. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each 
reporting date. 
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d) 
(g) Intangible assets  

Recognition and measurement 

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Bank and have finite useful lives are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.  

Subsequent expenditure  

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is 
expensed as incurred.  

Amortization  

Software and website development costs are amortized on the straight-line basis 
and the amortisation expense is recognized in the statement of profit or loss over 
their estimated useful lives, from the date that they are available for use. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Computer software      3 years 

RBC Intangible assets      10 years 

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each 
reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 

(h) Other assets   
Other assets, being short-term, are carried at cost, less allowance for impairment 
losses. 

(i) Other liabilities 
Other liabilities are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be 
paid in the future for goods and services received. 
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d) 
(g) Intangible assets  

Recognition and measurement 

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Bank and have finite useful lives are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.  

Subsequent expenditure  

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is 
expensed as incurred.  

Amortization  

Software and website development costs are amortized on the straight-line basis 
and the amortisation expense is recognized in the statement of profit or loss over 
their estimated useful lives, from the date that they are available for use. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Computer software      3 years 

RBC Intangible assets      10 years 

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each 
reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 

(h) Other assets   
Other assets, being short-term, are carried at cost, less allowance for impairment 
losses. 

(i) Other liabilities 
Other liabilities are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be 
paid in the future for goods and services received. 
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d) 
(j) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 
such indication exists for any asset, then that asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.  

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or group of assets (the “cash-
generating unit”). 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its 
value-in-use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value-in-use is based on the 
estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.  

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  

Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of income.  

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss has been recognized. 

(k) Financial guarantees and letters of credit  
Financial guarantees and letters of credit comprise undertakings by the Bank to 
pay bills of exchange drawn on customers. The Bank expects most guarantees 
and letters of credit to be settled simultaneously with the reimbursement from the 
customers. 

Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements at fair value 
on the date the guarantee was given.  The fair value of a financial guarantee at the 
time of signature is zero because all guarantees are agreed on arm’s length terms 
and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the value of the guarantee 
obligation. No receivable for the future premiums is recognized.  Subsequent to 
initial recognition, the Bank’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the 
higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees recognized in accordance 
with IFRS 15, and the best estimate of the amount required to settle the guarantee. 
These estimates are determined based on experience of similar transactions and 
history of past losses, supplemented by the judgment of management. The fee 
income earned is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee.  
Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is reported in profit or loss within 
other operating expenses.  
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d) 
(l) Employee benefits 

Defined benefit plan 

On May 1, 1997, the Bank introduced a defined benefit plan for its qualified 
employees.  Each employee in the active permanent employment of the Bank, who 
on the effective date, was over age 18 shall be eligible to join the Plan.  Each 
member shall contribute to the Plan every month until the member ceases to be a 
member or has attained age 60, whichever first occurs.  The amount payable to 
the fund by the member shall be 3.50% of their monthly basic salary. 

For a defined benefit retirement plan, the cost of providing benefits is determined 
using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out 
at the end of each reporting period.  Re-measurement comprising of actuarial gains 
and losses, the effect of asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets 
(excluding interest) are recognized immediately in the statement of financial 
position with the charge or credit to other comprehensive income in the period in 
which they occur.  Re-measurement recorded in other comprehensive income is 
not recycled.  However, the entity may transfer those amounts recognized in other 
comprehensive income within equity.  Past service cost is recognized in profit or 
loss in the period of plan amendments. ‘Net interest expense or income’ is 
calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the year to the pension 
fund obligation or asset (net defined benefit liability or asset) as at the beginning 
of the year.  Pension expense (defined benefit cost) is split into three categories: 

• Service cost, past service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and 
settlements; 

The Bank presents the first two components of the pension expense (defined 
benefit cost) in the account ‘Pension Expense’ included in Salaries and Other 
Benefits reported under the line item “Operating Expenses’ in the statement of 
income.  Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past service cost. 

Re-imbursements of the net defined obligation are recognized directly within other 
comprehensive income. 

• Actual gains and losses 
• Return on Plan’s assets (interest exclusive) 
• Any asset ceiling effects (interest exclusive) 

The pension fund obligation or asset (net defined benefit liability or asset) 
recognized in the statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or 
surplus in the Bank’s defined benefit plan.  Any surplus resulting from this 
calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the 
form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the Plan. 

Short-term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis 
and are expensed as the related service is provided. 
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d) 
(m) Share capital and reserves 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to 
the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from 
equity. 

Statutory reserve 

Section 45 (1) of the Banking Act 2015 of Montserrat No. 15 of 2015, Chapter 
11.03 states that every licensed financial institution shall maintain a reserve fund 
and shall, out of its net income of each year and before any dividend is declared, 
transfer to “Statutory reserve” a sum equal to not less than twenty percent of such 
income whenever the amount of the “Statutory reserve” is less than a hundred 
percent of the paid-up or, as the case maybe, assigned capital of the financial 
institution. 

(n) Dividends 
Dividends are recognized when they become legally payable. Dividends are 
recognized upon approval by the shareholders at an annual general meeting or a 
special meeting. 

(o) Revenue recognition 
Revenue arising from the ordinary operating activities of the Bank is recognized 
when earned and measured at the fair value of the consideration received as 
follows: 

(i) Interest income  

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. The 
estimated future cash flows used in this calculation include those 
determined by the contractual term of the asset and all fees that are 
considered to be integral to the effective interest rate. Fees that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate are treated as an adjustment to 
the effective interest rate.  

(ii) Fees and commission income 

Fees and commission are generally recognized on an accrual basis when 
the services have been provided. 

(p) Expense recognition 
Expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or as 
incurred.
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d) 
(q) Leases 

The Bank assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Bank uses the 
definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 

 
Right-of-use Asset 

The Bank recognises a right‑of‑use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right‑of‑use asset is initially measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred 
and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore 
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease 
incentives received.  

The right‑of‑use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight‑line method 
from the commencement date to the end of the lease term. In addition, the 
right‑of‑use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

Lease Liability 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments 
to be made over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Bank’s incremental 
borrowing rate. 

(r) Income and deferred taxation 
The Bank is subject to income taxes at a rate of 30% per annum pursuant to the 
Income and Corporation Tax Act, Chapter 17.01 of Montserrat. 

Current income tax 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or recoverable on the taxable income or 
loss for the year, using the tax rate in effect for the year.  Adjustments to tax from 
prior years are also included in current tax. 

Deferred income tax 

The Bank uses the liability method of accounting for deferred income tax.  Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities resulting from temporary differences are computed using 
the tax rate that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date 
and are expected to apply when the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) are settled/ 
(recovered). Deferred tax assets are only recognized when it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which the asset may be utilised.
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d) 
(s) Related party  

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Bank 
if that person: 
i) Has control or joint control over the Bank; 
ii) Has significant influence over the Bank; or 
iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of the Bank or of 

the parent of the Bank.  
(b) An entity is related to the Bank if any of the following conditions applies: 

 
i) The entity and the Bank are members of the same group (which 

means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is 
related to the others). 

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an 
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the 
other entity is a member). 

iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 
iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is 

an associate of the third entity. 
v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of 

employees of either the Bank or an entity related to the Bank. 
vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified 

in (a). 
vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the Bank 

or is a member of the key management personnel of the Bank (or 
of the parent of the Bank). 

viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is part, provides 
key management personnel services to the Bank or its parent. 

(t) Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. 

(u) Contingencies   
Contingent liabilities represent possible obligations and are disclosed in the 
financial statements unless the possibility of the outflow of resources embodying 
the economic benefit is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the 
financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

(v) Subsequent events   
Post-year end events that provide additional information about the Bank's position 
at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the Bank's financial 
statements. Material post year-end events which are not adjusting events are 
disclosed.
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2. Summary of material accounting policies (cont’d) 
(w) Comparatives  

Where necessary, comparatives have been adjusted to conform with changes in 
the presentation in the current year.  

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards 
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and 
in any future periods affected. 
Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the financial statements are described below: 
(a) Measurement of the Expected Credit Loss allowance (“ECL”) 

Assets accounted for at amortized cost are evaluated for impairment on the basis 
described in Note 2 d(ii). 

The allowance for impairment losses applies to financial assets which are 
evaluated individually for impairment and is based upon management’s best 
estimate of the present value of the cash flows that are expected to be received.  
In estimating these cash flows, management makes judgments about 
counterparty’s financial situation and the net realizable value of any underlying 
collateral. The collateral values are based on the most recent valuation done.  
Each impaired asset is assessed on its merits and estimate of cash flows 
considered recoverable are independently assessed by the Manager and the 
Credit Committee. 
The measurement of the ECL on financial assets is an area that requires the use 
of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions 
and credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting 
losses).  
A number of significant judgments are also required in applying the accounting 
requirements for measuring ECL, such as: 
• Determining criterias for significant increase in credit risk; 
• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of 

ECL; 
• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking 

scenarios for each type of product/market and the associated ECL; and 
• Establishing groupings of similar financial assets for the purposes of 

measuring ECL.
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3.  Critical accounting estimates and judgments (cont’d) 
(b) Determination of fair values 

The Bank measures fair value using the following fair value hierarchy: 

• Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an 
identical instrument. 

• Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).  This category includes 
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar 
instruments: quoted prices of identical or similar instruments in markets that 
are considered less than active, or other valuations techniques where all 
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

• Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs.  This 
category includes all instruments where the valuation techniques include 
inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a 
significant effect on the instrument’s valuation.  This category includes 
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments 
where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required 
to reflect differences between the instruments.  

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active 
markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer prices quotations. 
Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models.  
Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and 
benchmark interest rates, credit spreads used in estimating discount rates, bond 
and equity prices and expected price volatilities and correlations.  The objective of 
valuation techniques is to arrive at fair value determination that reflects the price 
of the financial instrument at the reporting date, which would have been 
determined by market participants acting at arm’s length. 

(c) Useful lives of depreciable assets  
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable asset at each 
reporting date, based on the expected utility of the assets. The estimated useful 
life of each asset is updated if expectations differ significantly from previous 
estimates due to physical wear and tear, or other limits in the use of the asset. 
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4. Financial risk management 
(a) Introduction and overview 

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities 
involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of 
risk or combination of risks.  Taking risk is core to retail banking and operational 
risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business.  The Bank’s aim is 
therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimize 
potential adverse effects on the Bank’s financial performance. 
The Bank’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these 
risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and 
adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The 
Bank regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect 
changes in market, products and emerging best practice. 

Risk management is carried out mainly by the Finance Department under policies 
approved by the Board of Directors. Management identifies and evaluates financial 
risks in close co-operation with the Bank’s operating units. The Board provides 
oversight for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific 
areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. In addition, 
internal audit is responsible for the independent review of risk management and 
the control environment. 

The most important types of risks are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, 
operational risk and capital management. Market risk includes currency risk, 
interest rate and other price risk.  

(b) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to 
a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Bank’s exposure 
to credit risk arises principally from the Bank’s cash equivalents (cash in bank), 
investment securities and loans and advances to customers. 

Management of credit risk 
The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit 
risk to the Credit Committee and the General Manager. 

The Credit Committee and the General Manager are responsible for oversight of 
the Bank’s credit risk, including: 

• Formulating credit policies in consultation with the Board of Directors and 
staff, covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, documentary and 
legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory 
requirements. 
 

• Establishing the authorization structure for the approval and renewal of 
credit facilities. Authorization limits are allocated to the Board of Directors, 
General Manager, Credit Committee and senior officers with designated 
approval authorities, as appropriate. 



72

BANK OF MONTSERRAT LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

BANK OF MONTSERRAT LIMITED 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2024 
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars) 

34 

 

4. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 (b)  Credit risk (cont’d) 
  Management of credit risk (cont’d) 

• Reviewing and assessing credit risk.  The credit department assesses all 
credit exposures in excess of designated limits, prior to facilities being 
committed to customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to 
the same review process. 
 

• Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and 
industries (for loans and advances to customers) and issuer, geographies, 
industries and currency (for investment securities). 
 

• Reviewing compliance with agreed exposure limits, including those for 
selected industries, country risk and product type.  Regular reports are 
provided to the Credit Committee and the General Manager and the Board 
of Directors on the credit quality of local portfolios and appropriate corrective 
action is taken. 
 

• Providing advice, guidance, and specialist skills to departments to promote 
best practice throughout the Bank in the management of credit risk. 
 

• The credit department is required to implement the Bank’s credit policies 
and procedures, with credit approval authorities delegated from the General 
Manager and Credit Committee.  The credit department is headed by the 
Bank Manager who reports on all credit related matters to top management 
and the Board of Directors.  The credit department is also responsible for 
the quality and performance of its credit portfolio and for monitoring and 
controlling all credit risks in the portfolio, including those subject to central 
approval.
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4. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 (b) Credit risk (cont’d)  
  Exposure to credit risk 

(i) Investment securities 

The credit quality of the Bank’s investment securities based on Caribbean 
Information and Credit Rating Service Limited (“CariCRIS”), Standard & 
Poor, and Moody’s are presented as follows: 

Investment Investment 
securities at securities at

amortised amortised
cost cost
2024 2023

$ $

Impaired securities
Unrated     17,054,613     16,379,614 
Less: allowance for impairment    (17,054,613)    (16,379,614)

Carrying amount                      -                      - 

Unimpaired securities
A+ to AA+     57,255,785     27,167,832 
AAA     12,357,846                      - 
B- to B+     11,942,574     14,049,286 
BBB- to BBB+     62,089,529     49,719,565 
CariBBB       2,000,000       3,000,000 
Unrated                      -                      - 

Gross amount   145,645,734     93,936,683 
Less: allowance for impairment      (4,504,831)      (4,211,401)

Carrying amount   141,140,903     89,725,282 

Total carrying amount   141,140,903     89,725,282 
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4. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 (b) Credit risk (cont’d)  
  Exposure to credit risk 

(i) Investment securities 

The credit quality of the Bank’s investment securities based on Caribbean 
Information and Credit Rating Service Limited (“CariCRIS”), Standard & 
Poor, and Moody’s are presented as follows: 

Investment Investment 
securities at securities at

amortised amortised
cost cost
2024 2023

$ $

Impaired securities
Unrated     17,054,613     16,379,614 
Less: allowance for impairment    (17,054,613)    (16,379,614)

Carrying amount                      -                      - 

Unimpaired securities
A+ to AA+     57,255,785     27,167,832 
AAA     12,357,846                      - 
B- to B+     11,942,574     14,049,286 
BBB- to BBB+     62,089,529     49,719,565 
CariBBB       2,000,000       3,000,000 
Unrated                      -                      - 

Gross amount   145,645,734     93,936,683 
Less: allowance for impairment      (4,504,831)      (4,211,401)

Carrying amount   141,140,903     89,725,282 

Total carrying amount   141,140,903     89,725,282 
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4. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 (b) Credit risk (cont’d) 
  Exposure to credit risk (cont’d) 

(ii) Loans and advances to customers 

Loans and advances are summarized as follows: 

2024 2023
Note $ $

Loans and advances to customers
Neither past due nor impaired     93,541,737     84,972,743 
Past due but not impaired     11,734,799     13,197,312 
Impaired       6,073,186       5,395,640 

Gross amount   111,349,722   103,565,695 
Less: allowance for impairment 23     (6,758,868)     (5,715,391)

Carrying amount   104,590,854     97,850,304 

 
The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers.  
Collateral is usually in the form of land and buildings, other real estate 
properties, other registered securities over assets, and guarantees.  
Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the 
time of borrowing.  Collateral is not usually held against investment 
securities and no such collateral was held as at September 30, 2024 (2023 
- Nil). 

Notwithstanding the current dynamics of the economy, management is 
fairly confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal 
exposure of credit risk to the Bank based on the following: 

• 95% (2023 - 92%) of the loans and advances portfolio is 
categorised in the top two grades of the internal rating system; 

• 99% (2023 - 99%) of the portfolio is backed by collateral in the form 
of mortgage debenture, legal mortgages, life and comprehensive 
insurance, bills of sale, cash and guarantees; 

• The Bank continues to grant loans and advances and purchase 
investment securities in accordance with its policies and guidelines; 
and  

• 90% (2023 - 85%) of the investment securities are graded 
“investment grade” (that is grade B and CariBBB and above) by 
external rating agencies. 

• The Bank continues to hold cash and its short-term fixed deposits 
with reputable financial institutions. 
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4. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 (b) Credit risk (cont’d) 

Write-off policy 
The Bank writes off a loan balance (and any related allowances for impairment 
losses) when the Risk Management Department determines that the loan is 
uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as 
the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower's financial position such that 
the borrower can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will 
not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.   

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk.  The 
most traditional of these is the taking of security or collateral for funds advanced, 
which is common practice.  The Bank implements guidelines on the acceptability 
of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation.  The principal collateral 
types for the loans and advances are: 

• Mortgage over residential properties; 
• Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts 

receivable; and  
• Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities. 

 
Settlement risk 
The Bank’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions 
and trades.  Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a bank to honour 
its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed. 

For certain types of transactions, the Bank mitigates this risk by conducting 
settlements through a settlement/clearing agent to ensure that a trade is settled 
only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual settlement obligations.  
Settlement limits form part of the credit approval/limit monitoring process described 
earlier. Acceptance of settlement risk on free settlement trades requires 
transaction specific or counterparty specific approvals from the Bank. 

(c) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
from its financial liabilities. 

Management of liquidity risk 
The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it 
will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Bank’s reputation. 
The Management assesses information regarding the liquidity profile of their 
financial assets and liabilities and details of other projected cash flows arising from 
projected future business.  It then maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets, 
largely made up of deposits at banks and other inter-bank facilities, to ensure that 
sufficient liquidity is maintained by the Bank. 
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4. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
(e) Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of 
causes associated with the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and 
infrastructure and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks 
such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of corporate behavior. Operational risks arise from all of the 
Bank’s operations and are faced by all business entities. 
The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance 
of financial losses and damage to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost 
effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity. 
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to 
address operational risk is assigned to the Board of Directors.  This responsibility 
is supported by the development of overall Bank’s standards for management of 
operational risk in the following areas: 
• Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the 

independent authorisation of transactions; 
• Requirements for reconciling and monitoring transactions; 
• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 

• Documentation of controls and procedures; 
• Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risk faced and the 

adequacy of controls and procedures to address the risk identified; 
• Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed 

remedial action; 
• Development of contingency plans; 

• Training and professional development; 
• Ethical and business standards; and 
• Risk mitigation, including insurance when this is effective. 
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4. Financial risk management (cont’d)  
(g) Capital management 

Regulatory capital 
The Bank’s lead regulator, the ECCB, sets and monitors capital requirements for 
the Bank as a whole.  In implementing current capital requirements, ECCB requires 
the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of total risk weighted assets. 
The Bank’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers: 
Tier 1 capital: This includes paid up ordinary share capital, statutory reserves, 

capital reserves (excluding asset revaluations and reserves for 
losses on assets and retained earnings. 

Tier 2 capital: This includes fixed assets revaluation reserve, general provision 
for loan losses, paid up perpetual cumulative preference shares, 
paid up perpetual cumulative preference shares surplus, bonus 
shares from capitalisation of unrealized assets revaluation 
reserves, unaudited undivided profits, mandatory convertible debt 
instruments, other hybrid capital instruments and subordinated 
term debt and limited life preference shares, if any.  

The Bank’s regulatory capital position as at September 30, 2024 and 2023 is as 
follows: 

2024 2023
(In thousands of EC dollars) Notes $ $

Tier 1 capital
Share capital 21            20,207            20,206 
Statutory reserve 22            15,819            13,118 
Retained earnings            15,923            10,473 
Undivided loss            13,503              7,117 

           65,452            50,914 

Tier II capital
General provision for loan losses              6,759              5,715 

Total regulatory capital            72,211            56,629 

Capital adequacy ratio 24.70% 19.90%
  

The Bank is in compliance with all externally approved capital requirements 
throughout the period including Section 44(1) of the Banking Act 2015 of 
Montserrat No. 15 of 2015, which requires the Bank to maintain a minimal required 
capital not less than $20,000,000.   
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4. Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 (g) Capital management (cont’d) 

Regulatory capital (cont’d) 
The Act also requires a licensed institution to maintain a minimum capital 
adequacy ratio between its total regulatory capital and the aggregate of its risk 
weighted on-balance sheet assets and risk weighted off-balance sheet assets less 
approved deductions, of not less than eight percent (8%), calculated on a 
consolidated and sole basis.  As at September 30, 2024 and 2023 the Bank is in 
compliance with the requirement. 

The Bank’s policy is to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain future development of the business.  The impact of the level of capital on 
shareholder’s return is also recognized and the Bank recognises the need to 
maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater 
gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 

5. Fair values of financial instruments 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the 
principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access 
at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. The following 
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments. 
The fair values of cash resources, other assets, and liabilities and due to other banks are 
assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their short-term nature. 
(i) Loans and advances to customers 

The estimated fair values of loans and advances represent the discounted amount 
of estimated future cash flow expected to be received. Expected cash flows are 
discounted at current market rate to determine fair value. 
Where available, the fair value of loans and advances is based on observable 
market transactions. Where observable market transactions are not available, fair 
value is estimated using valuation models such as discounted cash flow 
techniques. Input into the valuation techniques includes the expected lifetime credit 
losses, interest rates, prepayment rates and primary origination or secondary 
market spreads. For collateral-dependent impaired loans, the fair value is 
measured based on the underlying collateral. Input into the models may include 
data from third party brokers and information obtained from other market 
participants, which includes observed primary and secondary transactions. To 
improve the accuracy of the valuation estimates, loans are grouped into portfolios 
with similar characteristics such as the quality of collateral, repayment and 
delinquency rates. 
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5. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d) 
(ii) Investment securities 

Investment securities include only interest-bearing debt assets at amortized cost, 
since equity securities classified at FVOCI are measured at fair value. The fair 
value of equity securities carried at cost is not disclosed as it cannot be reliably 
estimated. The fair value for investment securities measured at amortized cost is 
based on market prices or broker/dealer price quotations. Where this information 
is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities 
with similar credit maturity and yield characteristics. 

(iii) Due to customers 
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-
interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand. Deposits payable 
on a fixed date are at rates which reflect market conditions and are assumed to 
have fair values which approximate carrying values. 
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5. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d) 
Assets not measured at fair value  
The following table sets out the gross amounts and fair values of financial instruments not 
measured at fair value and analyses them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each 
fair value measurement is categorized. 

 Total  
 Total fair   carrying 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Value  amounts 
(In thousands of EC dollars) $ $ $ $  $ 

September 30, 2024
Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank                -          90,476                -          90,476        90,476 
Investment securities                -        162,700                -        162,700      162,700 
Loans and advances to customers                -        111,350                -        111,350      111,350 
Other assets                -          28,917                -          28,917        28,917 

               -        393,443                -        393,443      393,443 

Financial liabilities
Deposit liabilities                -        386,032                -        386,032      386,032 
Other liabilities                -          37,270                -          37,270        37,270 
Dividends payable                -            3,160                -            3,160          3,160 

               -        426,462                -        426,462      426,462 

September 30, 2023
Financial assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank                -        110,834                -        110,834      110,834 
Investment securities                -        110,316                -        110,316      110,316 
Loans and advances to customers                -        103,566                -        103,566      103,566 
Other assets                -            7,998                -            7,998          7,998 

               -        332,714                -        332,714      332,714 

Financial liabilities
Deposit liabilities                -        367,516                -        367,516      367,516 
Other liabilities                -          12,874                -          12,874        12,874 
Dividends payable                -               850                -               850             850 

               -        381,240                -        381,240      381,240 
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5. Fair values of financial instruments (cont’d) 
Assets measured at fair value  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total 
(In thousands of EC dollars) Note $ $ $  $ 

September 30, 2024
Investment securities
 - Equity instruments at FVOCI 7    93,938,926      1,334,518    95,273,444 

Total assets    93,938,926                   -        1,334,518    95,273,444 

September 30, 2023
Investment securities
 - Equity instruments at FVOCI 7    95,550,757      1,334,518    96,885,275 

Total assets    95,550,757                   -        1,334,518    96,885,275 

 
Fair value hierarchy 
IFRS 13 - Fair value measurement: specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based 
on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. 
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable 
inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions. 
These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy: 
• Level 1 - Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical instruments. This level includes listed equity securities and debt 
instruments on exchanges. 

• Level 2 -  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This 
category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other 
valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly 
observable from market data. 

• Level 3 - Inputs that are unobservable (not based on observable market data). This 
category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes 
inputs that are not observable, and the unobservable inputs have a 
significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes 
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments 
for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are 
required to reflect differences between instruments. 
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6. Cash and balances with Central Bank 
2024 2023

$ $

Cash on hand       4,639,189       6,295,301 
Cash at bank     14,423,982     15,781,648 
Short-term fixed deposits with other banks     48,973,071     67,729,418 

Cash and cash equivalents     68,036,242     89,806,367 

Mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank     22,439,821     21,027,926 

    90,476,063   110,834,293 

Cash at bank represents ordinary cash deposits made with other banks located both in 
Montserrat and other territories. 
Included in cash at bank is an amount of $2,772,185 (2023 - $2,620,905) held on behalf 
of the pension plan (Note 11) and it’s therefore, not available for the day-to-day operations 
of the Bank. 
Mandatory reserve deposits  
Section 57 of the Act and the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank Agreement Act of 1983, 
prescribes the maintenance of a required reserve which shall be expressed as a 
percentage of the aggregate demand, savings, and time deposits and other liabilities of 
the Bank and the percentage shall not be more than forty percent (40%) unless the Central 
Bank so approves.  Such reserves shall be maintained either by way of notes and coins, 
cash holdings with other financial institutions or by way of deposits with the Central Bank. 
Such mandatory deposits are not available to finance the Bank’s day-to-day 
operations.  By Notice No.7 of February 16, 1994, issued by the Central Bank, approval 
was granted for the maintenance of the minimum reserve at the level of 6% of the Bank’s 
total deposit liabilities (excluding interbank deposits).   
The Bank was in compliance with the mandatory deposit requirements at September 30, 
2024.  The balance with the Central Bank are non-interest bearing. 
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7. Investment securities 

2024 2023
Note $ $

Investment securities:
Debt investments at amortised cost    162,700,347    110,316,297 
Equity investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income ("FVOCI")      95,273,444      96,885,275 

   257,973,791    207,201,572 
Less: Unearned premium          (996,483)          (700,573)

   256,977,308    206,500,999 
Less: Allowance for impairment losses 23     (21,559,444)     (20,591,015)

   235,417,864    185,909,984 

Investment securities measured at amortised cost
Government bonds      24,612,676      18,819,804 
Corporate bonds    110,658,058      56,716,880 
Fixed deposits      25,429,613      31,779,613 
Treasury Bills        2,000,000        3,000,000 

   162,700,347    110,316,297 

Investment securities measured at FVOCI - Equity
Listed equity securities      93,938,926      95,550,757 
Unlisted equity securities        1,334,518        1,334,518 

     95,273,444      96,885,275 
 

Unlisted equity securities totaling $1,334,518 (2023 - $1,334,518) are being carried at cost.  The 
Bank is unable to reliably measure the fair value of these investments since the shares are not 
traded in an active market and the future cash flows relating to these investments cannot be 
reliably estimated.   
All debt securities have fixed interest rates.  The weighted average effective interest rate on debt 
securities stated at amortized cost at September 30, 2024, was 4.41% (2023 – 3.66%). 
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7.  Investment securities (cont’d) 
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk on 
investment securities based on the Bank’s credit rating system and the year-end stage 
classification for investment securities. 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
12 Month Lifetime  Lifetime 

 ECL ECL  ECL  Total 
$ $ $  $ 

September 30, 2024
Gross exposure  133,707,729    11,938,005    17,054,613  162,700,347 
ECL        (124,648)     (4,380,183)   (17,054,613)   (21,559,444)

Net exposure  133,583,081      7,557,822                   -    141,140,903 

September 30, 2023
Gross exposure    78,887,398    15,049,285    16,379,614  110,316,297 
ECL        (137,019)     (4,074,382)   (16,379,614)   (20,591,015)

Net exposure    78,750,379    10,974,903                   -      89,725,282 

Movement in ECL is as follows:

At October 1, 2023         137,019      4,074,382    16,379,614    20,591,015 
ECL on new instruments issued 
during the year           43,756                   -           675,000         718,756 
Transfer to Stage 1                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Transfer to Stage 2                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Transfer to Stage 3                   -                     -                     -                     -   
Year-end exposure reassessment          (56,127)         305,801                   (1)         249,673 

At September 30, 2024         124,648      4,380,183    17,054,613    21,559,444 
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7.  Investment securities (cont’d) 

Movement in the carrying amount of the debt investments at amortized cost during the 
year were as follows: 

2024 2023
$ $

At beginning of the year     110,316,297     116,701,655 
Additions     654,256,701     246,580,356 
Sale or redemption    (601,872,651)    (252,965,714)

At end of the year     162,700,347     110,316,297 

 
Movement in the carrying amount of the investment securities measured at FVOCI – 
Equity during the year were as follows: 

2024 2023
$ $

Cost    100,560,753    110,086,726 

Change in fair values
At beginning of the year     (13,201,451)     (14,035,631)
Movement for the year        7,914,142           834,180 

At end of the year       (5,287,309)     (13,201,451)

     95,273,444      96,885,275 
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8. Loans and advances to customers 
2024 2023

Notes $ $
Performing loans
Mortgages 62,070,196            68,346,431 
Demand 36,138,006            21,588,455 
Overdrafts 2,030,381                1,963,698 
Student 1,432,247                1,730,880 
Credit cards 31 1,240,983                1,296,677 
Staff 2,241,184                2,963,494 

    105,152,997       97,889,635 
Non-performing loans
Mortgages         3,914,507         3,870,388 
Credit cards 31         1,867,369         1,534,653 
Demand            275,472            112,961 
Overdrafts            139,377            158,058 

        6,196,725         5,676,060 

Total gross loans     111,349,722     103,565,695 

Less: Allowance for impairment losses 10, 23        (6,758,868)        (5,715,391)

Total net loans     104,590,854       97,850,304 

 
The weighted average effective interest rate on loan and advances to customers 
measured at amortized cost at September 30, 2024 was 6.27% (2023 – 5.76%). 
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9. Accrued interest receivable 
2024 2023

Note $ $
Gross values:
Investment securities at amortised cost       1,830,558       1,484,596 
Loans and advances to customers          172,965          373,428 

      2,003,523       1,858,024 

Less allowance for impairment losses:
Investment securities at amortised cost          (38,610)          (36,454)
Loans and advances to customers                     -                     - 

23          (38,610)          (36,454)

      1,964,913       1,821,570 
Net carrying values:
Investment securities at amortised cost       1,791,948       1,448,142 
Loans and advances to customers          172,965          373,428 

      1,964,913       1,821,570 
 

 

10. Income and deferred taxation 
Income tax 
Based on the Income and Corporation Tax Act, Chapter 17.01, corporate income tax rate 
is thirty percent 30% (2023 – 30%). 
Income tax expense consists of: 

2024 2023
$ $

Current
Tax on prior year profits                   -              (3,092)
Tax on profits          681,429          902,965 

         681,429          899,873 

Deferred 
Recognition of tax consequences on temporary 
differences          162,487          181,585 

         843,916       1,081,458 
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10. Income and deferred taxation (cont’d) 
The reconciliation of the current income tax expense computed at the statutory income 
tax rate to income tax expense shown in the statement of income is as follows: 

2024 2023
$ $

Net income before tax       6,375,352       8,198,160 

Non-taxable income as per Section 7.1 of the Income Tax Act     (3,889,730)     (4,949,833)
Non-deductible expenses          327,429          366,838 

Taxable Income       2,813,052       3,615,165 

Tax calculated at the applicable rate of 30% (2023 - 30%) 843,916        1,084,550     
Adjustment to tax losses re: IRD Assessment                     -            (3,092)

843,916        1,081,458     

 
 Deferred tax asset 

Deferred tax is calculated on temporary difference under the liability method using a tax 
rate of 30% (2023 - 30%). 
The movement on the deferred tax assets account is as follows: 

2024 2023
$ $

Balance - beginning of the year       2,883,272       3,064,857 
Recognition of deferred tax on temporary differences        (162,487)        (181,585)

Balance - end of the year       2,720,785       2,883,272 
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11. Pension plan (cont’d) 
The pension plan is exposed to a number of risks, including: 
(1) Investment risk - movement of discount rate used (high quality corporate bond 

or regional investments) against the return from plan assets. 
(2) Interest rate risk - decreases/increase in the discount rate used (high quality 

corporate bond or regional investments) will increase/decrease the defined 
obligations. 

(3) Longevity risk - changes in the estimation of mortality rates of current and 
former employees. 

(4) Salary risk - an increase in future salaries increases the gross defined benefit 
obligations. 

The most recent actuarial valuations of the Plan’s assets and the present value of the 
defined benefit obligations were carried out as at September 30, 2024 by Bacon Woodrow 
& de Souza Limited, Actuaries and Consultants out of Trinidad using the Projected Unit 
Credit Method. 
The reconciliation of the assets and liabilities recognized in the statement of financial 
position is as follows: 

2024 2023
Notes $ $

Present value of obligations     (3,826,597)     (3,633,421)
Fair value of Plan's assets 6       2,772,185       2,620,905 

Net defined benefit liabilities 10     (1,054,412)     (1,012,516)

The movement in the defined benefit obligations is as follows: 
2024 2023

$ $

Balance - beginning of the year       3,633,421       3,252,743 
Current service cost          154,534          119,892 
Interest cost          250,845          225,057 
Benefits paid        (101,564)          (76,588)
Share of contribution by the employees            58,577            46,806 
Re-measurement (losses)/gains        (169,216)            65,511 

Balance - end of the year       3,826,597       3,633,421 
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11. Pension plan (cont’d) 
The movement in the fair value of the Plan’s assets is as follows: 

2024 2023
$ $

Balance - beginning of the year       2,620,905       2,519,751 
Interest income          185,439          178,118 
Employer contributions          100,416            80,239 
Contribution by plan participants            58,577            46,806 
Benefits paid        (101,564)          (76,588)
Return on plan assets          (91,588)        (127,421)

Balance - end of the year       2,772,185       2,620,905 

 
The major categories of the Plan’s assets at the end of each reporting year are as follows: 

2024 2023
Note $ $

Cash at bank 6 2,772,185 2,620,905

Assets recognized 2,772,185 2,620,905

Actual return on the Plan's assets            93,851            50,697 

 
2024 2023

Note $ $

Current service cost           154,534           119,892 
Net interest income             65,406             46,939 

Component of net pension expenses
recorded in statement of income 24           219,940           166,831 

Re-measurement losses on the net defined
benefit obligations
Return on Plan's assets             91,588           127,421 
Actuarial (loss)/gain arising from the defined 
benefit obligations          (169,216)             65,511 

Component of pension expenses recorded in 
other comprehensive income            (77,628)           192,932 

Total pension expenses           142,312           359,763 
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11.  Pension plan (cont’d) 
The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows: 

2024 2023
% %

Discount rate 7 7
Expected return on plan assets
i.  Deposit administration contract n/a n/a
ii.  Annuity policy n/a n/a
Pension increase                     -                     - 
Salary increase 5 5

 
Mortality experience  
Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published mortality tables.  The life 
expectancies underlying the value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows: 

2024 2023
% %

Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioner in years
Male 22.0 21.9
Female 26.2 26.2
Life expectancy at age 60 for current members age 40 in years
Male 22.8 26.1
Female 27.1 22.7

 
 Sensitivity analysis 

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the assumptions used.  The 
following table summarizes how the defined benefit obligations as at September 30, 2024, 
would have changed as a result of a change in the assumptions used. 

1% p.a. 1% p.a. 
Increase Decrease

% %

Discount rate        (469,835)          593,116 
Future salary increase          290,087        (249,514)

An increase in one (1) year in the assumed life expectancies shown above would increase 
the defined benefit obligations as at September 30, 2024 by $40,562 (2023 - $36,326). 
These sensitivities were determined by re-calculating the defined benefit obligations using 
the revised assumptions.
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11.  Pension plan (cont’d) 
Funding 
The Bank meets the balance of the cost of funding the defined benefit pension plan and 
must pay contributions at least equal to those paid by members, which are fixed.  The 
funding requirements are based on the regular actuarial valuations of the plan and the 
assumptions used to determine the funding required may differ from those set out above.  
The Bank expects to pay around $105,000 to the Plan during the 2024 - 2025 financial 
year. 
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13. Intangible assets 

Computer 
Software

Note $

As at September 30, 2022
Cost          982,035 
Accumulated amortization        (712,819)

Net book value          269,216 

For the year ended September 30, 2023
Opening net book value          269,216 
Additions            90,531 
Amortization charge for the year 26        (109,888)

Net book value          249,859 

As at September 30, 2023
Cost       1,072,566 
Accumulated amortization        (822,707)

Net book value          249,859 

For the year ended September 30, 2024
Opening net book value          249,859 
Additions            22,580 
Amortisation charge for the year 26          (85,373)

Net book value          187,066 

As at September 30, 2024
Cost       1,095,146 
Accumulated amortization        (908,080)

Net book value          187,066 
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14. RBC intangible assets 
Purchase price 
In December 2019, the Royal Bank of Canada entered into definitive agreements to sell 
off its banking operations in the Eastern Caribbean to a consortium of indigenous banks 
in the region, including the Bank of Montserrat Limited.  The transaction was structured 
so that each member of the consortium acquired the RBC branch in its home jurisdiction 
over two phases. For the Bank of Montserrat, this meant the acquisition of the operations 
of RBC Montserrat. 
Phase 1 consisted of the purchase of the banking assets of RBC Montserrat in accordance 
with an Asset Purchase Agreement.  The consortium collectively entered into a Share 
Purchase Agreement with RBC Royal Bank Holdings (EC) Limited relating to the purchase 
of RBTT Bank Caribbean Limited, which carried on banking operations in St. Vincent and 
the Grenadines and its subsidiaries in Grenada and Nevis.  
The second phase of the transaction considered the purchase of the assets in St. Vincent 
by 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited and the majority shares in RBTT Nevis Limited by 
The Bank of Nevis Limited respectively.  The majority shares in RBTT Grenada were 
purchased equally by the consortium with each member owing 20% of the majority shares. 
On July 27, 2020, the consortium entered an agreement to transfer the shares of RBTT 
Grenada to the Antigua Commercial Bank effective on the same day that the RBC Share 
Purchase Agreement closed.  Therefore, on close of the Transaction, BOML ceased to 
have an interest in RBTT Caribbean Limited or its assets in the future.  Therefore, no 
consideration was given to the 20% share of RBTT Grenada in the calculation of goodwill 
as the effect would be nil. 
The Transaction successfully closed on 1 April 2021 at a purchase price of $91.8M, net of 
severance costs. The purchase price allocated to RBC Montserrat was $2.6M. 
Brief overview of RBC 
RBC is a multinational company that has had more than 100 years of offering financial 
services across the Caribbean with a presence in 10 countries across the region, serving 
nearly one million clients. 
Brief overview of BOML 
BOML's primary business activities include those of commercial and retail banking, 
offering a wide range of services in Montserrat and the diaspora. 
Rationale for acquisition 
The acquisition of the operations of RBC Montserrat by BOML is a strategic fit given that 
it supports the business vision to consolidate BOML’s banking operations in Montserrat 
and allows them to more aggressively target the diaspora for mortgage financing. It will 
further strengthen the Bank’s position as a key player in the local financial services sector 
enabling the Bank to continue to play a meaningful role in the development of Montserrat 
and by extension the lives of Montserratians.  Other opportunities presented by this 
transaction included a more diversified product and service offering, increased market 
share as a result of effective cross-selling, offering attractive deposit and loan rates to 
clients and the widening of the banking channels. 
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14. RBC intangible assets 
Purchase price 
In December 2019, the Royal Bank of Canada entered into definitive agreements to sell 
off its banking operations in the Eastern Caribbean to a consortium of indigenous banks 
in the region, including the Bank of Montserrat Limited.  The transaction was structured 
so that each member of the consortium acquired the RBC branch in its home jurisdiction 
over two phases. For the Bank of Montserrat, this meant the acquisition of the operations 
of RBC Montserrat. 
Phase 1 consisted of the purchase of the banking assets of RBC Montserrat in accordance 
with an Asset Purchase Agreement.  The consortium collectively entered into a Share 
Purchase Agreement with RBC Royal Bank Holdings (EC) Limited relating to the purchase 
of RBTT Bank Caribbean Limited, which carried on banking operations in St. Vincent and 
the Grenadines and its subsidiaries in Grenada and Nevis.  
The second phase of the transaction considered the purchase of the assets in St. Vincent 
by 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited and the majority shares in RBTT Nevis Limited by 
The Bank of Nevis Limited respectively.  The majority shares in RBTT Grenada were 
purchased equally by the consortium with each member owing 20% of the majority shares. 
On July 27, 2020, the consortium entered an agreement to transfer the shares of RBTT 
Grenada to the Antigua Commercial Bank effective on the same day that the RBC Share 
Purchase Agreement closed.  Therefore, on close of the Transaction, BOML ceased to 
have an interest in RBTT Caribbean Limited or its assets in the future.  Therefore, no 
consideration was given to the 20% share of RBTT Grenada in the calculation of goodwill 
as the effect would be nil. 
The Transaction successfully closed on 1 April 2021 at a purchase price of $91.8M, net of 
severance costs. The purchase price allocated to RBC Montserrat was $2.6M. 
Brief overview of RBC 
RBC is a multinational company that has had more than 100 years of offering financial 
services across the Caribbean with a presence in 10 countries across the region, serving 
nearly one million clients. 
Brief overview of BOML 
BOML's primary business activities include those of commercial and retail banking, 
offering a wide range of services in Montserrat and the diaspora. 
Rationale for acquisition 
The acquisition of the operations of RBC Montserrat by BOML is a strategic fit given that 
it supports the business vision to consolidate BOML’s banking operations in Montserrat 
and allows them to more aggressively target the diaspora for mortgage financing. It will 
further strengthen the Bank’s position as a key player in the local financial services sector 
enabling the Bank to continue to play a meaningful role in the development of Montserrat 
and by extension the lives of Montserratians.  Other opportunities presented by this 
transaction included a more diversified product and service offering, increased market 
share as a result of effective cross-selling, offering attractive deposit and loan rates to 
clients and the widening of the banking channels. 
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14.  RBC intangible assets (cont’d) 
Rationale for acquisition (cont’d) 
According to a consultative paper issued by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank in June 
2018, the ECCU is overbanked, and banks will need to consolidate in order to enhance 
financial stability, facilitate growth in the ECCU and provide modern services to customers 
at competitive prices in a dynamic operating environment. 
This transaction is reflective of the fundamental changes in the financial services industry, 
specifically the retrenchment of the Canadian banks from the region, with a planned shift 
to focus on larger territories.  RBC indicated that it became increasingly difficult to compete 
with the indigenous banks, whose fees were low in comparison.  
Bargain purchase 
The purchase of the assets and liabilities of RBC Montserrat resulted in a bargain 
purchase as the total consideration paid is below the netbook value of the assets as at 
April 1, 2021. 
A bargain purchase might occur where there is a forced sale, where difficult market 
conditions exist or because some items in a business combination are not measured at 
fair value. 
The consideration that gave rise to the bargain purchase in this case was primarily 
attributable to the following: 
• RBC Montserrat’s financial performance had deteriorated over the last 4 years, 

with the branch incurring a net loss in each of the last 4 years. 
• The Bank has seen an increase in net losses between FY17 and FY19 of 57%, 

followed by a sharp increase in FY20 to a loss of $3.24M. This was driven primarily 
by a 51% increase in the provision for credit losses and a 57% increase in 
operating expenses. The increase in credit losses was due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. The pre-existing IFRS 9 model was updated to account for the 
incremental expected losses caused by the new external environment. 

• The loan balance fell from $6.48M to $4.86M from 2017 to 2021. While the bank 
has historically been loss-making, the deposit base has remained relatively stable 
ranging between $127M and $135M between FY15 and FY20. 

• The total purchase price was allocated across the consortium based on a 
combination of a weighted share of the Target’s assets and revenue, each with a 
50% weight and the adjustments for property uplifts for those entities acquiring real 
property. 

• The Bank of Montserrat Limited is the only competitor in the commercial banking 
space on island and having historically dominated the market, it is unlikely that 
BOML would have paid a premium for this asset.
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14.  RBC intangible assets (cont’d) 
 Goodwill 

Goodwill is defined as ‘the future economic benefits arising from assets that are not 
individually identified and separately recognized’. 
Goodwill accounts for the excess purchase price of another company, after identifying and 
valuing all tangible and intangible assets.  If the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and provisions for contingent liabilities recognized, exceeds the cost of the 
business combination then negative goodwill is recognized. 
Some reasons goodwill exists include the following: 
• Brand name; 
• Customer base; 
• Customer relations; 
• Employee relations; and 
• Proprietary technology. 
Commonly, the following would not qualify as identifiable intangible assets under IFRS 3: 
a. Market share; 
b. Recruitment and training programs; 
c. Customer service proficiency 
d. Monopoly; 
e. Successful advertising programs; 
f. Exceptional credit ratings and access to capital; 
g. Technical expertise; 
h. Favourable government relationships; 
i. Market potential; 
j. Distribution networks; 
k. Strong labour relations; and 
l. Non-union status. 
Value of goodwill 
Goodwill was determined to be $3.1M from a purchase consideration of $2.6M.  This 
indicates that the value of the net assets, including the intangible assets, exceeds the 
purchase consideration. In this case, net assets exceed the purchase consideration by 
approximately $2.5M. 
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14. RBC intangible assets (cont’d) 
Purchase price allocation 

Purchase 
As at April 1, 2021 Fair Value Consideration

$ %

Purchase Price    2,600,602                    100 
Acquisition costs                 -                        -   

Purchase Consideration    2,600,602 
Less:
FV of tangible assets
Total assets       125,000 
Total liabilities       125,000 

Net tangible assets                 -   
FV adjustment on property, plant and equipment                 -   

Total net tangible assets                 -   

Total intangible assets and goodwill to be allocated    2,600,602 

FV intangible assets (excluding goodwill)
Core deposit intangibles - Term Deposits         48,600                   1.90 
Core deposit intangibles - Current    3,453,300               132.90 
Core deposit intangibles - Savings    1,630,800                 62.70 

Total identifiable intangible assets    5,132,700               197.50 

Goodwill
Assembled workforce in place       518,400                 19.90 
Residual goodwill   (3,050,498)             (117.30)

Gain on acquisition   (2,532,098)               (97.40)
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14.  RBC intangible assets (cont’d) 
Purchase price allocation (cont’d) 

Core
 Deposits
Intangible

Note $

For the year ended September 30, 2023
Opening net book value -                
Additions      5,132,700 
Amortization charge for the year 26        (513,270)

Net book value      4,619,430 

As at September 30, 2023
Cost      5,132,700 
Accumulated amortization        (513,270)

Net book value      4,619,430 

For the year ended September 30, 2024
Opening net book value      4,619,430 
Amortization charge for the year 26        (513,270)

Net book value      4,106,160 

As at September 30, 2024
Cost      5,132,700 
Accumulated amortization     (1,026,540)

Net book value      4,106,160 
 

 

15. Other assets 

2024 2023
Note $ $

Credit cards receivable 31     26,238,549       6,831,866 
Miscellaneous       1,973,090          290,706 
Prepayments and deposits          705,678          875,578 

    28,917,317       7,998,150 
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16. Lease liability 
On October 1, 2021, the Bank entered into a lease agreement with Osborne Service 
Centre for the construction of a building to house the Automated Teller Machine (“ATM”) 
at its premises in St. Peters for a period of ten (10 years). 
A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an 
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply 
this definition the Bank assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which 
are whether: 
• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the 

contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made 
available to the Bank.  

• the Bank has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use 
of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the 
defined scope of the contract the Bank has the right to direct the use of the 
identified asset throughout the period of use. The Bank assess whether it has the 
right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period 
of use.  

Measurement and recognition of leases  
At the lease commencement date, the Bank recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability on the balance sheet. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made 
up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the 
Bank, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, 
and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any 
incentives received).  
The Bank depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or 
the end of the lease term. The Bank also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment 
when such indicators exist.  
At the commencement date, the Bank measures the lease liability at the present value of 
the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease if that rate is readily available or the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease 
payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts 
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from 
options reasonably certain to be exercised.  
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and 
increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if 
there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.  
When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the 
right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.  
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16. Lease liability (cont’d) 
In the statement of financial position, the right-of-use asset has been included in property, 
plant, and equipment and the lease liability has been included in other liabilities. 

(a) Right of use asset 
Note $

As at September 30, 2023
Cost            88,278 
Depreciation charge for the year             (9,809)

Net book value 12            78,469 

As at September 30, 2024
Cost            78,469 
Depreciation charge for the year             (9,809)

Net book value 12            68,660 

 
(b) Lease liability 

2024 2023
Note $ $

Present value of lease payments            23,267            25,588 
Lease payments             (3,600)             (3,600)
Finance charges              1,163              1,279 

Lease liability included in the 
statement of financial position 20            20,830            23,267 

 
(c) Amounts recognized in profit or loss  

2024 2023
$ $

Finance charges on lease liability              1,163              1,279 
Depreciation on right-of-use asset              9,809              9,809 

           10,972            11,088 
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16. Lease liability (cont’d) 
(d) Amounts recognized in cashflow   

2024 2023
$ $

Total cash outflow for leases              3,600              3,600 

 
(e) The lease value determined above includes a lease with the option to renew. This 

option is exercisable by the Bank up to six (6) months before the end of the non-
cancellable contract period. The Bank will reassess whether it is reasonably certain 
to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant changes in 
circumstances within their control to exercise the extension option.  

17. Deposit liabilities 

2024 2023
$ $

Retail
Savings deposits    195,856,419    194,273,135 
Demand deposits      24,552,173      22,852,300 
Time deposits      13,460,333      13,203,668 

   233,868,925    230,329,103 

Corporate 
Savings deposits        7,878,282        6,975,068 
Demand deposits    137,522,308    123,403,063 
Time deposits        6,762,308        6,808,754 

   152,162,898    137,186,885 

   386,031,823    367,515,988 

 
The weighted average effective interest rate of deposit liabilities as at September 30, 2024 
was 1.17% (2023 - 1.22%).
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18. Dividends payable 

2024 2023
Note $ $

Balance - beginning of the year          850,435          997,210 
Dividends declared during the year       2,334,421                    -   
Dividends paid           (25,022)             (4,156)
Dividend payments converted to shares 21                (253)         (142,619)

Balance - end of the year       3,159,581          850,435 

 
19. Bank interest levy 

The Bank is subject to the Bank Interest Levy Act Chapter 11.28 of the Laws of Montserrat, 
and its subsequent amendment of May 26, 2015. This legislation requires the Bank to pay 
on the first day of July of each year, a bank interest levy of 0.5% based on the average 
interest-bearing deposit balances (including time and fixed deposits) computed on the 
average of such deposit balances at the end of each month in the calendar year 
immediately prior to the year of payment.   
The Bank interest levy and the corresponding accrued interest at September 30, 2024 is 
included in Note 20. 
 

20. Other liabilities 

2024 2023
Notes $ $

Credit cards payable 31     30,196,194       9,520,252 
Miscellaneous       4,015,142          688,724 
Accounts payable       1,730,966       1,302,327 
Bank interest levy 19       1,172,142       1,176,533 
Manager's cheque          134,269          162,915 
Lease liability 16            20,830            23,267 

    37,269,543     12,874,018 
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19. Bank interest levy 

The Bank is subject to the Bank Interest Levy Act Chapter 11.28 of the Laws of Montserrat, 
and its subsequent amendment of May 26, 2015. This legislation requires the Bank to pay 
on the first day of July of each year, a bank interest levy of 0.5% based on the average 
interest-bearing deposit balances (including time and fixed deposits) computed on the 
average of such deposit balances at the end of each month in the calendar year 
immediately prior to the year of payment.   
The Bank interest levy and the corresponding accrued interest at September 30, 2024 is 
included in Note 20. 
 

20. Other liabilities 

2024 2023
Notes $ $

Credit cards payable 31     30,196,194       9,520,252 
Miscellaneous       4,015,142          688,724 
Accounts payable       1,730,966       1,302,327 
Bank interest levy 19       1,172,142       1,176,533 
Manager's cheque          134,269          162,915 
Lease liability 16            20,830            23,267 

    37,269,543     12,874,018 
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23. Allowance for impairment losses (cont’d) 
 Regulatory loan loss provision 

The impairment provision for loans and advance to customers based on the Eastern 
Caribbean Central Bank’s Prudential Guidelines is determined as follows: 

2024 2023
$ $

Special mention              2,430            29,302 
Substandard              3,458          226,000 
Doubtful       2,471,045       1,742,133 
Loss       1,940,945       1,588,085 

Loans with specific provision       4,417,878       3,585,520 
General provision       2,104,559       1,912,407 

Total regulatory provision       6,522,437       5,497,927 
IFRS 9 provision     (6,758,868)     (5,715,391)

Excess of regulatory provision over IFRS 9
provision credited to equity        (236,431)        (217,464)

The movement in the above provision is as follows: 
2024 2023

$ $

Balance - beginning of the year                     -          311,762 
Recovery for loan loss                     -        (311,762)

Balance - end of the year                     -                     - 

 
24. Salaries and other benefits 

2024 2023
Note $ $

Salaries, allowance and overtime       2,382,848       2,445,213 
Other benefits          229,764          252,376 
Social security and medical expenses          227,850          170,619 
Net pension expenses 11          219,940          166,831 
Staff performance bonus          165,000          165,000 
Gratuity            88,198          139,038 
Training and education            72,405            27,967 

      3,386,005       3,367,044 
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25. Other operating expenses 

2024 2023
Note $ $

Bank interest levy 19       1,024,800       1,016,400 
Bank charges          633,470          653,579 
Directors fees and expenses          564,690          556,392 
Credit card processing expenses          437,948                     - 
Credit card network fees          413,868                     - 
Insurance          191,730          181,343 
Miscellaneous          178,585          196,416 
Printing and stationery            96,788          163,049 
Advertising and promotion            93,727          103,270 
Meetings and workshop            71,373            63,996 
Donations            59,122            48,627 
Annual general meeting            57,247            53,485 
Membership and subscriptions            28,617            25,096 
Vehicle expenses            26,033            24,415 
Other office expenses            24,606            51,169 
Landscaping and other related charges            15,000            15,000 
Postage              7,337            17,798 
Meals and entertainment              1,742              4,244 

      3,926,683       3,174,279 

 
26. Occupancy and equipment - related expenses 

2024 2023
Notes $ $

Repairs and maintenance       1,409,088       1,023,220 
Depreciation and amortisation 12, 13 & 14          956,370          990,442 
Electricity and water          161,177          165,055 
Telephone          105,296          105,203 
Other            10,920            10,567 

      2,642,851       2,294,487 
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27. Related party balances and transactions 
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank undertakes transactions with its directors, 
officers, shareholders and related interests.  As at September 30, 2024 and 2023, the 
outstanding balances on the Bank’s related party receivables and payables are as follows: 

Interest rate 2024 Interest rate 2023
% $ % $

Loans and advances 
to customers 0.0 - 12.00 6,627,400 0.0 - 12.00 7,746,596
Deposit liabilities 0.0 - 3.25 22,984,533 0.0 - 3.25 18,563,215

 
Interest income and interest expense from related party transactions are as follows: 

2024 2023
$ $

Interest income 350,736 302,702
Interest expense 281,050 222,010

Remuneration of key management personnel and directors of the Bank are as follows: 
2024 2023

$ $

Short-term employee benefits          936,820          817,595 
Directors fees and other benefits          564,690          556,392 
Long-term employee benefits          126,204          114,163 

      1,627,714       1,488,150 
 

28. Commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities 
(i) There were no capital commitments as at September 30, 2024 (2023 - Nil). 

 
(ii) Loan commitments and other off-balance sheet items were as follows: 

2024 2023
$ $

Undrawn commitments 1,219,238     3,424,883
Acceptances guarantees and letters of credit 660,740        531,598
Other obligations 5,686,705     5,369,000
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28.  Commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities (cont’d) 
Guarantees 

A guarantee is a contract that contingently requires the guarantor to make payments to a 
third party based on another entity’s failure to perform related to its indebtedness.  Letters 
of guarantee are issued at the request of a customer in order to secure the customer’s 
payment or performance obligations to a third party.  These guarantees represent an 
irrevocable obligation of the Bank to pay the third-party beneficiary upon presentation of 
the guarantees and satisfaction of the documentary requirements stipulated therein, 
without investigation as to the validity of the beneficiary’s claim against the customer.  The 
types and amounts of collateral security held by the Bank for these guarantees is generally 
the same as required for loan facilities.   

Legal 

There are some pending claims against the Bank. Based on the advise of the Bank’s legal 
counsel, it is probable that the judgements will be in the Bank’s favour. Whilst it is 
impossible to be certain of the outcome of any particular case or of the amount of any 
possible adverse verdict, the Bank believes that their defences to all these various claims 
are meritorious on both the law and the facts. Having regard to the foregoing, the Bank (i) 
does not consider it appropriate to make any provisions in respect of any pending 
litigations and (ii) does not believe that the ultimate outcome of these matters will 
significantly impact the Bank’s financial condition. Payments if any, arising from these 
claims will be recorded in the period that the payments are made.  

                                                                                                   

29. Book value per share 
The Bank presents book value per share data for its ordinary shares.  Book value per 
share is calculated by dividing the total shareholders’ equity by the total number of ordinary 
shares issued and outstanding during the period. 

2024 2023
Note $ $

Total shareholders' equity 46,202,528 35,034,150
Total number of shares 21 5,985,727 5,985,696

Book value per share 7.72 5.85
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30. Basic and diluted earnings per share 
2024 2023

$ $

Basic and diluted EPS
Net income attributable to the shareholders       5,531,435       5,776,217 
Weighted average number of shares       5,985,713       5,957,654 

0.92              0.97              

Basic earnings per share 
Earnings per share of $0.92 (2023 - $0.97) for the year ended September 30, 2024, is 
calculated by dividing the net income attributable to the shareholders of $5,531,435 (2023 
- $5,776,217) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year of 
5,985,713 (2023 - 5,957,654). 
 

31. Credit Card Portfolio Transition Update 

On November 20, 2024, the Bank finalized an agreement for its credit card portfolio, 
completing Phase 1 of its structured transition to becoming a fully licensed VISA and 
MasterCard issuer. This portfolio was acquired from the Caribbean Credit Card 
Corporation (“4Cs”) on April 1, 2023. 
The acquisition enabled the Bank to assume responsibility for merchant settlements and 
payment processing previously managed by 4Cs. As of the financial year-end, the 
following balances were reflected in the Bank’s financial statements: 
1. Loans and Advances - $3,108,352 (Note 8) 
2. Other Assets - Credit Card Receivable – $26,238,549 (Note 15) 
3. Other Liabilities - Credit Card Payable – $30,196,194 (Note 20) 
The Bank is now actively engaged in Phase 2 of the project, focused on obtaining the 
necessary licenses from VISA and MasterCard. This transition from an intermediary model 
to a full-fledged credit card issuer will enable the Bank to accept international credit cards 
at its ATMs and launch Bank of Montserrat-branded credit and debit cards. These 
initiatives align with the Bank’s long-term strategy to expand its product offerings and 
enhance operational efficiency. 
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32. Subsequent events 
Soufriere Hills volcano 
Activity at the Soufriere Hills Volcano remains low.  The seismic network recorded two 
volcano tectonic earthquakes during the week of January 17 to 24, 2025. There are no 
SO2 flux measurements to report during this reporting period. 
Due to the large size of the lava dome, pyroclastic flows can occur at any time without 
warning on any side of the volcano, including Gages from where they can travel rapidly 
into Plymouth. Tracks across the Belham Valley can be destroyed or heavily modified by 
flash flooding or lahars, and caution should be exercised crossing the valley during and 
after rainfall. 
The Hazard Level is 1. There is no public access to Zone V, including Plymouth. Maritime 
Zones E and W are daytime transit only between sunrise and sunset (boats may sail 
through the zone but must not stop). 
The development of Montserrat is now focused on the North side of the island which was 
determined to be a safe zone by the Montserrat Volcano Observatory.  As such, the 
activity of the volcano is of less risk to the Bank and its customers as they are located in 
the safe zone.  This is proven by the growth and stability of the domestic banking sector 
over the years.  In addition, the banking sector’s significant investment in properties and 
the construction of new homes and businesses. 
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